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On behalf of the Board of Directors, | would like to present the
annual report of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2008.

FINANCIAL RESULTS

The Group’s audited consolidated net loss for the year was
HK$274.30 million (2007: net loss of HK$333.19 million). The net
asset value of the Group decreased from HK$246.88 million as
at 31 December 2007 to HK$225.28 million as at 31 December
2008. The net loss is mainly attributed to the loss from securities
transactions, shares base payments in relation to the issuance of
share options, provision for doubtful debts and the impairment on
goodwill.

FINAL DIVIDEND

The Board of Directors does not recommend the payment of a final
dividend for the year.

BUSINESS REVIEW
Scania Business

The Scania distributorship was formally terminated on 31 March
2008. The Group discontinued all related business regarding the
Scania distributorship since 1 April 2008.
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Investment in e-Ticketing System in the PRC

On 21 August 2007, Great Journey Limited, an indirect wholly-
owned subsidiary of the Company, entered into a sale and
purchase agreement to acquire the entire issued share capital of
Natural Harvest Investments Limited. Natural Harvest Investments
Limited effectively held 49% of equity interest in a PRC joint
venture namely China Railway Information and Technology Limited
(“China Railway"”). China Railway planned for the development,
management and operation of an e-ticketing system for railway
passengers and related freight cargo services in the PRC through
the China Railway Web Portal. The acquisition was completed on
7 September 2007 and the consideration of HK$80 million was
fully paid on the same day. After the completion, the PRC partner
refused to provide information of the financing positions as well as
the status of the web portal projects. The PRC partner requested
additional capital injection of HK$150 million pursuant to the joint
venture agreement. The PRC partner has submitted a arbitration
proceedings in PRC against Talenteam Development Limited
("Talenteam”), a non wholly-owned subsidiary of the Group
which holds 80% interest in China Railway. Legal action against
the PRC partner has not commenced as the Group is waiting for
the result of a similar action by an independent party against the
PRC partner. In view of the PRC legal opinion, the Board made a
full impairment on the investment in year 2007. On 4 July 2008,
Talenteam received notification from the China International
Economic and Trade Arbitration Commission regarding the
withdrawal of the arbitration proceedings from the PRC partner.
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Tianjin Motor Business

On 11 October 2007, Crown Creation Limited, an indirect wholly-
owned subsidiary of the Company, purchased the entire issued
share capital of Leapfly Limited which holds the entire issued
share capital of Suntrend China Limited (“Suntrend”). Suntrend
holds 50% equity interest in Tianjin Kai Sheng Automobile Service
Co., Ltd ("Kai Sheng”). Kai Sheng and its subsidiaries operated
automobile sales and repair centers under the authorisation of
General Motor Asia, Inc. and Zhong Ji Subaru (Beijing) Vehicles
Sales Co., Ltd. On 22 October 2008, the authorisation from
General Motor Asia, Inc. and Zhong Ji Subaru (Beijing) Vehicles
Sales Co., Ltd. was ceased. At the same time, Kai Sheng and
its subsidiaries obtained permission to conduct the sales and
repair services of Zhengzhou Nissan under the authorisation of
Zhengzhou Nissan Automobiles Sales Company Limited.

During the year under review, Kai Sheng and its subsidiaries
contributed approximately HK$3.70 million to the Group.

Logistic Services

On 13 September 2007, Smart Oriental Limited, an indirect wholly-
owned subsidiary of the Company, invested 40% in the enlarged
issued share capital of Golden Fame International Investments
Group Limited ("GFIIGL"). GFIIGL provides various logistic services
in Hong Kong and the PRC including third party logistics, freight
forwarding, supply chain management, river trade shipping and
terminal stevedoring.

On 28 May 2008, the Group disposed its entire interest of 93.7%
of U-Drive Company Limited, a company which provides fuel
chain services to vehicular customers, to GFIIGL at a consideration
of HK$2 million. The disposal should result in better operational
support as it ties in with the business development strategy of
GFIGL.

During the year under review, as a result of the global oil price
increase and sharp decrease of cargo volume caused by the global
economic recession, GFIIGL has only made approximately HK$0.77
million contribution to the Group results.
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Property Investment

On 14 April 2008, the Group disposed of two properties (Unit 1
to 3 and Unit 5 to 9 situated on 22/F, China United Centre, 28
Marble Road, North Point, Hong Kong) together with the mortgage
loans through the disposal of the entire issued share capital of
Allied Well Development Limited and its wholly-owned subsidiary,
Hostbest Limited, in exchange for a consideration of 160,000,000
ordinary shares of Willie International Holdings Limited valued
at HK$0.126 per share. Willie International Holdings Limited is a
company listed on the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited. This
disposal generated approximately HK$3.6 million contribution to
the Group.

Trading of Securities

The Group invested its surplus cash in Hong Kong listed securities.
The Hong Kong stock market has undergone a severe correction
as a result of the global financial tsunami. The Group recorded a
realised and unrealised loss of approximately HK$80.82 million and
approximately HK$142.31 million respectively.

Money Lending Business

The Group has used its surplus cash to fund a money lending
business through its indirect wholly-owned subsidiary, Forefront
Finance Co., Limited at interest rates ranging between 2% per

month to Prime Rate plus 4% per annum.

A loan secured by a charge on certain properties in the amount
of HK$27.5 million was advanced to Tack Fat Group International
Limited (Stock code 928). On 11 September 2008, Tack Fat Group
International Limited defaulted the repayment of the advance.
Limited on the
charged properties were granted by the Court on 3 March 2009.
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FINANCIAL REVIEW
Liquidity, financial resources, borrowing and gearing ratio

The Group financed its operation largely through internal cash
resources and fund raising activities. As at the balance sheet date,
the cash balance was approximately HK$64.15 million (2007:
HK$24.61 million). The increase in cash balance was primarily
from rights issues, issuance of option shares and placing exercises
during the year. The Group had approximately HK$27.27 million
borrowings as at 31 December 2008 (as at 31 December 2007:
HK$240.05 million consists of bank borrowings and convertible
notes). The Group's gearing ratio, calculated as total borrowings
divided by net assets, is stated at 12.11% (2007: 97.23%)).

As at 31 December 2008, the Group's net assets value amounted
to approximately HK$225.28 million (as at 31 December 2007:
HK$246.88 million) with total assets approximately HK$270.36
million (as at 31 December 2007: HK$506.16 million). Net current
assets were approximately HK$185.74 million (as at 31 December
2007: HK$174.88 million) and the current ratio was 5.12 times (as
at 31 December 2007: 1.67 times).

Capital Structure

On 4 December 2007, the Company proposed an Rights Issue
of 892,906,512 rights share to the qualifying shareholders at
a price of HK$0.20 per rights share on the basis of one rights
share for every two existing shares held on the record date (i.e. 3
January 2008). An aggregate of 1,191,064,032 rights shares and
excess rights shares representing 133.39% of the total number
of 892,906,512 rights shares offered under the Rights Issue were
applied for. Immediately after completion of the Rights Issue, the
Company's share capital increased from 1,785,813,024 shares
to 2,678,719,536 shares. The Company received proceeds of
approximately HK$172 million.
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On 11 February 2008, 147,490,000 shares were granted to
qualified participants under the share option scheme at an exercise
price of HK$0.213 per ordinary share of HK$0.1 each. The share
options were fully exercised on 12 February 2008. The Company
received proceeds of approximately HK$31.4 million.

On 11 February 2008, 294,983,744 shares were issued to
independent investors at the placing price of HK$0.20 per share
through a placing agent. The placing was completed on 21
February 2008. The Company received proceeds of approximately
HK$58 million.

On 16 June 2008, 624,238,000 shares were issued to independent
investors at the placing price of HK$0.142 per share through a
placing agent. The placing was completed on 27 June 2008. The
Company received proceeds of approximately HK$86.27 million.

On 26 August 2008, the Company proposed that the nominal
value of the issue share capital be reduced from HK$0.10 each to
HK$0.025 by canceling HK$0.075 paid up capital on each share
by way of capital reduction and every four issued reduced shares
of HK$0.025 be consolidated into one consolidated share of
HK$0.10. The capital reorganisation was approved by shareholders
at the EGM of the Company held on 15 October 2008 and
approved by the Grand Court of Cayman Islands on 21 November
2008.

Foreign Currency Exposure

The Group is not subject to foreign currency exposure since its
operations are mainly denominated in Hong Kong dollars.

Pledge of Assets

As at 31 December 2008, the Group deposited approximately
HK$1,567,000 (2007: HK$558,000) as collateral to satisfy
contingent warranty and delivery obligations in relation to certain
sales contracts.
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Corporate Guarantee

The Group provided corporate guarantee to a bank for mortgage
loans amounting to HK$14.6 million granted to Hostbest Limited,
an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Group until April 2008.
The corporate guarantee was released on 23 October 2008.

PROSPECT

At the EGM of the Company held on 15 October 2008,
independent shareholders approved the Group to enter into a
subscription agreement with Excel Way Investments Ltd. (“Excel
Way"), pursuant to the subscription agreement, amongst other
things, Excel Way agreed to issue, and Ready Capital Limited
(an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company) agreed
to subscribe for 51% of the enlarged issued share capital of
Excel Way at an aggregate consideration of US$11 million. Upon
completion of the subscription agreement, the Company will hold
an effective interest of 21.86% in Tinhua Excel Way Special Fiber
(Xintai) Company Limited (“Tinhua"). Tinhua is a manufacturer of
carbon fiber in the PRC. The subscription agreement is pending for
completion. The Company is negotiating for better terms with the
relevant parties.

EMPLOYEES, REMUNERATION POLICY AND
RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEME

As at 31 December 2008, the Group had 19 employees, 15 of
these employees were located in Hong Kong and 3 were in PRC
and 1 in Macau.

The policy of employee remuneration, bonus, share option
scheme and training are commensurate with performance and
comparable to the market rate. The Group is committed in offering
staff training courses to its employees. External training may be
provided when necessary.

The Group contributes to a Mandatory Provident Fund under the
Hong Kong Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance.
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CONTINGENT LIABILITIES RAREE

Details of the Group contingent liabilities as of 31 December 2008 REBRZZEZNFF+ZA=+—B2Z=RA
are set out in note 32 to the financial statements. BEFEENMBREME32 -

Yeung Ming Kwong HTEE

Executive Director BHX

Hong Kong B

3 April 2009 —EENFMNA=A
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Yeung Ming Kwong, aged 50, Acting Chairman of the
Company. Formerly Executive Director and CEO of Wah Lee
Resources Holdings Limited and executive director of Goldwiz
Holdings Limited. He has over 20 years of experience in import and
export trading and investment business in the PRC.

Ms. Lo Oi Kwok, Sheree, aged 40, holds an EMBA from Cheung
Kong Graduate School of Business and a Bachelor's Degree of Arts
from York University, Canada. She has over 10 years of experience
in business development and investment. She was an executive
director of Goldwiz Holdings Limited from May 2006 to January
2007.

Mr. Ting Wing Cheung, Sherman, aged 51, holds a Bachelor of
Arts Degree from the University of Windsor, Canada. He has over
20 years of experience as Managing Director of an automobile
accessories and consumer household product manufacturer. Mr,
Ting is an expert in industrial safety design and in the managing
and planning of large manufacturing facilities.

Mr. Wen Louis, aged 74, holds a Bachelor of Engineering degree
from the City University of New York, USA. An Executive Director
of Forefront International (Hong Kong) Limited (“FIHK"”) from
1993 to 1997 and General Manager of FIHK since August 2005.
Mr. Wen has extensive experience in engineering, marketing, and
advertising from previous positions at J. Walter Thompson Co. and
Dow Jones International Marketing Services in the United States.

Mr. Zhou Qi Jin, aged 48, holds a Bachelor Degree in Law from
the Southwest University of Political Science and Law, the PRC. He
has over ten years of experience in large scale outdoor advertising
and promotion related industry as well as experience in automobile
sales and marketing in the PRC.
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Mr. Zhuang You Dao, aged 56, graduated from The Institute of
Operation Management of China (B 4% & & 12 &0 ) majoring
in corporate management. Mr. Zhuang has over 30 years of
experience in the automobile industry. Chairman of Tianjin Kai
Sheng Automobile Service Co. Ltd. (REYBTEHEFR
A 7F]) and general manager of Tianjin Jinri Automobile Sale &
Service Company Limited (REZZRABHERBER LA . Mr
Zhuang is a senior consultant of Shenzhen Lan-you Technology
Co., Ltd. CRINBEARIERBR AT,
industry management software. Mr. Zhuang is an executive of the

a developer of automobile

Chamber of Industry and Commerce of Tinjin Xiging District, a
special procurator of the First Branch of the People’s Procuratorate
of Tianjin Municipality and a representative of the 14th Session of
People’'s Congress of Tianjin Hedong District.

INDEPENDENT NON EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Chung Yuk Lun, aged 48, a fellow member of the Association
of Chartered Certified Accountants, an associate member of
The Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and an
Associate Chartered Accountants (England and Wales). Mr. Chung
has over 20 years of experience in finance project investment. An
executive director and Chairman of Radford Capital Investment
Limited (stock code: 901),

Jewellery Group Limited (stock code: 860) and an independent

executive director of Ming Fung

non-executive director of Heritage International Holdings Limited
(stock code: 412).

Ms. Lam Yan Fong, Flora, aged 33, holds a Bachelor Degree in
Law from the University of Hong Kong in 1999 and a Postgraduate
Certificate in Laws from the University of Hong Kong in 2001. Ms.
Lam is a practicing solicitor in Hong Kong.
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Mr. Kwong Wai Tim, William, aged 52, holds a MBA degree
from the University of Oregon, USA. Mr. Kwong has over 16
years of experience in banking and corporate finance gained
with major international financial institutions including Citicorp,
Bankers Trust, Credit Lyonnais Asia Limited and The New China
Hong Kong Capital Limited. A member of the Council of The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited from 1995 to 1997 and a
Director and Chairman of the Finance Committee of Hong Kong
Securities Clearing Company Limited from 1996 to 1997. Mr.
Kwong is a Non-executive director of Freeman Corporation Limited
(stock code: 279). He was also a non-executive director of Goldwiz
Holdings Limited from May 2006 to February 2007.

Ms. Swartz Kristi Lynn, aged 39, obtained B.B.A., M.B.A. and
LL.M. Degrees, and a member of the Law Societies of Hong Kong
and England and Wales. Partner of Lister Swartz law firm. Ms.
Swartz has a wealth of knowledge on legal matters and corporate
litigation matters. Ms. Swartz is currently an independent non-
executive director of Mascotte Holdings Limited (stock code: 136)
and Unity Investments Holdings Limited (stock code: 913) both
companies listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange. Ms.
Swartz was appointed as an independent non-executive director
of Tack Fat Group International Limited (stock code: 928) on 13
August 2008 but had resigned as an independent non-executive
director on 12 September 2008.
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The directors herein present their report together with the
audited consolidated financial statements of the Company and its
subsidiaries for the financial year ended 31 December 2008.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company is an investment holding company, through its
subsidiaries and associated companies is principally engaged in
the business of selling and distribution of Nissan motor vehicles,
operation of the Nissan 4S shops, provision of heavy motor vehicle
repair and maintenance services in the PRC, provision of logistic
services in Hong Kong and the PRC, properties investments,
securities trading, and money lending business. Other activities and
particulars of the Group’s subsidiaries are set out in note 17 to the
financial statements

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

For the year ended 31 December 2008, the five largest customers
accounted for approximately 85% of the Group’s turnover in
respect of the money-lending business and the sole securities
trading service provider of the Group accounted for 100% of the
Group’s service costs in relation to the securities trading business.
The largest customer accounted for approximately 56% of the
Group's turnover in respect of the money-lending business.

RESULT AND DIVIDENDS

The Group’s loss for the financial year ended 31 December 2008
and the state of affair of the Company and of the Group at the
date are set out in the financial statements on pages 35 to pages
122.

The directors do not recommend the payment of any dividend.
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SUBSIDIARIES

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are set out in
note 17 to the financial statements.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT AND
INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

Details of movements in property, plant and equipment during the
year are set out in notes 11 and 12 to the financial statements.

BANK LOANS AND OTHER BORROWINGS

Particulars of bank loans and other borrowings of the Company
and the Group as at 31 December 2008 are set out in note 23 to
the financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL AND SHARE OPTION

Details of movements in share capital and share option scheme of
the Company are set out in notes 27 and 28 respectively to the
financial statements.

CONVERTIBLE SECURITIES, OPTION, WARRANTS
OR OTHER SIMILAR RIGHTS

Details of movements in convertible securities, option warrants or
other similar rights of the Company are set out in notes 24 and 28
respectively to the financial statements.
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PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Company's
Articles of Association and the laws in the Cayman Islands, which
would oblige the Company to offer shares on a pro rata basis to its
existing shareholders.

PURCHASE, SALES OR REDEMPTION OF
SECURITIES

During the year ended 31 December 2008, neither the Company
nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, sold or redeemed any of the
Company's listed securities.

RESERVES

Movements in the reserves of the Company during the year
are set out in note 29 to the financial statements. The surplus
in distributable reserves of the Company as at 31 December
2008 amounted to approximately 115,770,000 (2007: deficit of
HK$77,549,000.)

FIVE YEARS SUMMARY

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the
Group for the last five financial years is set out on pages 123 and
124 of the annual report.
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

Certain related party transactions disclosed in note 34 to

the

consolidated financial statements constituted connected

transactions under Chapter 14A of the Rules Governing the Listing

of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the

"Listing Rules”). Details of connected transactions are as follows:

1)

Acquisition and Loan Agreement

On 11 October 2008, Crown Creation Limited, an indirect
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, entered into a Sale
and Purchase Agreement with Z & Z International Limited to
purchase the entire issued share capital of Leapfly Limited
("Leapfly”). Leapfly holds the entire issued share capital of
Suntrend China Limited (“Suntrend”).
Suntrend will hold 50% of the equity interest in Tianjin

Upon completion,

Kai Sheng Automobile Service Co. Ltd. Mr. Zhuang Yau
Dao being a director of the Company and he substantial
shareholder of Tianjin Kai Sheng Automobile Service Co.,
Ltd., The acquisition falls within Rule 14A.13(1)(b) of the
Listing Rules and is a connected transaction for the Company.
After completion, Crown Creation Limited may, if requested
by Leapfly, would advance a loan of up to a maximum of
HK$5,000,000 to Leapfly to finance the operation of Tianjin
Kai Sheng Automobile Service Co., Ltd. The loan, if advanced,
constitutes financial assistance given by the Company to a
connected person under the Listing Rules.

On 14 March 2008, Crown Creation Limited, entered into
a loan agreement with Leapfly for the above-mentioned
advancement with principle amount of HK$5,000,000. Mr.
Zhuang You Dao, being the director of the Company and
substantial shareholder of Tianjin Kai Sheng Automobile
Service Co., Ltd., is the guarantor of the loan.

Details of the connected transactions can be referred in the
Company’s announcements dated 18 October 2007 and 14
March 2008 respectively.
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2)

Subscription Agreement

On 26 August 2008, Ready Capital Limited, an indirect
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company entered into a
subscription agreement with Excel Way Investments Limited
("Excel Way") and Mr. Yeung Ming Kwong (“Mr. Yeung"),
an executive director and the Acting Chairman of the
Company who holds 51% of the issued share capital of
Shinning Global Worldwide Limited (“Shinning Global”)
which in turn wholly-owns Excel Way. Excel Way agreed to
allot and issue and Ready Capital Limited agreed to subscribe
shares representing 51% of the enlarged issued share capital
of Excel Way at an aggregate consideration of US$11 million.
Excel Way holds 42.86% of the registered capital of Tinhua
Excel Way Special Fiber (Xintai) Co., Ltd., a manufacturer of
polyacrylonitrile based carbon fiber precursor, carbon fiber,
carbon fiber perpreg and other special fiber.

As Shinning Global is an associate of Mr. Yeung. The
subscription agreement constitutes a major and connected
transaction for the Company and is subject to the approval
of independent shareholders of the Company at an EGM.
The transaction was approved at EGM of the Company on 15
October 2008.

The subscription agreement is still pending for completion.

Details of the above connected transaction can be referred to
the Company’s announcement and circular dated 26 August
2008 and 19 September 2008 respectively.

These transactions also constitute related party transactions of
the Group during the year and are set out in note 34 to the
financial statements pursuant to the requirements under the
Hong Kong Standard Accounting 24.
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DIRECTORS AND DIRECTORS' SERVICE CONTRACTS

The directors who held office during the year and up to the date of
this report were:

Executive Directors

Ms. Yau Shum Tek, Cindy (Appointed as Chairman
on 24 April 2007 and
Resigned on
27 February 2008)

Mr. Yeung Ming Kwong (Appointed on 26 April 2007:
re-designated as Acting
Chairman on
27 February 2008)

Ms. Lo Oi Kwok, Sheree

Mr. Ting Wing Cheung, Sherman
Mr. Wen Louis

Mr. Zhou Qi Jin

Mr. Zhuang You Dao

Independent Non-Executive Directors

Mr. Chung Yuk Lun

Ms. Lam Yan Fong, Flora

Mr. Kwong Wai Tim, William
Ms. Swartz Kristi Lynn

In accordance with Article 116 of the Articles of Association of the
Company, Ms. Lo Oi Kwok, Sheree, Mr. Zhou Qi Jin and Mr. Kwong
Wai Tim, William will retire from office by rotation and, being
eligible, offer themselves for re-election at the forthcoming Annual
General Meeting.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

None of the directors proposed for re-election at the forthcoming
annual general meeting has a service contract with the Company
which is not terminable by the Company within one year without
payment of compensation, other than statutory compensation.
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MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contract concerning the management and administration of the
whole or any substantial part of the business of the Company was
entered into or existed during the year.

DIRECTORS’ INTEREST AND SHORT POSITIONS IN
SHARE AND UNDERLYING SHARES

As at 31 December 2008, the interests and short positions of
the Directors and the Company's chief executives in the shares,
underlying shares and debentures of the Company or any
associated corporation (within the meaning of Part XV of the
Securities and Future Ordinance (“SFO")) which were required
to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant
to Division 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests
and short positions which they have taken or deemed to have
under such provisions of the SFO), the Model Code for Securities
Transaction by Directors of Listed Companies and which were
required to be entered in the register required to be kept under
section 352 of the SFO were as follows:

(i) Long positions in Shares
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(ii) Long positions in shares or registered capital of
associated corporations

At 31 December 2008, Mr. Zhuang You Dao, an executive director
of the Company, is the ultimate beneficial owner of 50% interest
in the registered share capital of Tianjin Kai Sheng Automobile
Ltd. (RETIBTELZEBRLIA),

company of the Company.

Service Co., an associated

As at 31 December 2008, Mr.
Chairman and executive director of the Company, is the beneficial

Yeung Ming Kwong, acting

owner of 51% interest in Shinning Global Worldwide Limited,
Shinning Global Worldwide Limited in turn holds 100% interest in
Excel Way Investments Limited; Excel Way Investments Limited in
turn holds 42.86% interest in X G B FBM 4 (%) BER QA
(Tinhua Excel Way Special Fiber (Xintai) Co. Ltd). These companies
are deemed an associated company of the Company.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHT TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed in the section headed “Share Option Scheme”
below, at no time during the year was the Company or any of its
subsidiaries a party to any arrangements to enable the Directors to
acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in, or debt
securities (including debentures) of, the Company or any other
body corporate, neither the Directors nor any of their spouses or
children under the age of 18 had any right to subscribe for the
securities or debt securities of the Company or had exercised any
such right.

DIRECTORS’ INTEREST IN CONTRACTS

Save as disclosed in the financial statements, No contracts of
significance in relation to the Group's business to which the
Company or any of its subsidiaries or holding companies was a
party to and in which any of the Company’s directors or members
of its management had a material interest in, whether directly or
indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or at any time during

the year.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company adopted a new share option scheme (the
“Scheme”) on 6 August 2007. Under the Scheme, the Directors
may grant options to those qualified participants (including
Directors and employees) who, in the opinion of the Board, have
contributed or may contribute to the development of the Group
and any entity in which the Group holds an equity interest. The
following table discloses movement in the Company’s share
options under the Scheme during the year.

fE IR
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As at Granted Exercise As at

Exercise 1 January during during 31 December

Category of participant ~ Date of grant price 2008 the year the year 2008
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Qualified allotees 1 February 2008 HK$0.213 - 147,490,000  (147,490,000) -

in aggregate

BEWERA (RE) “EE\F-A+-H 0.213% 7T

Details of the Scheme are set out in notes 28 to the financial
statements. As at 31 December 2008, no option has been granted
to any directors

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDER AND OTHER
PERSONS’ INTERESTS IN SHARES AND
UNDERLYING SHARES

As at 31 December 2008, no persons (other than the Directors or
Chief Executive of the Company) has interests or short position in
the shares and underlying shares of the Company, being 5% or
more of the Company’s issued share capital, as recorded in the
register required to be kept under Section 336 of the SFO and in
accordance with information received by the Company.
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SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

The Company has maintained the prescribed public float under the
Listing Rules.

CODE OF BEST PRACTICE

Principle corporate governance practices adopted by the Company
are set out in the Corporate Governance section on pages 25 to
32.

AUDITOR

The financial statements of the Company for the year ended 31
December 2006 were audited by Messrs. Moores Rowland Mazars,
while those for the years ended 31 December 2007 and 2008 were
audited by Mazars CPA Limited, Certified Public Accountants.

A resolution will be submitted to the forthcoming annual general
meeting of the Company to re-appoint Mazars CPA Limited as
auditor of the Company.

ON BEHALF OF THE BOARD
Yeung Ming Kwong
Executive Director

Hong Kong
3 April 2009
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The Company recognizes that good governance standards RARER NEBLETHET2RIFLEE
maintained throughout the Group serves as an effective risk SRR BB RU B IR N T 2R c AR A

B (BB ) BUIMRERSELEE

management mechanism for the Company. The Board of Directors

(the “Board”) of the Company is committed to ensuring a high SR o
level of corporate governance standards.
1. CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES 1. BEERER

The Board of the Company had adopted its own code on
corporate governance practices which incorporate all the code
provision in the Code on Corporate Governance Practices (the
“CG Code"”) as set out in Appendix 14 of the Rules Governing
the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong

ARBEZSGCRMBFILEERER
SR ZTRIMATEME R ZMERA
AES EMARA ([ EmRR]) M &%+
2B RERTA ([REERT
RI1) Z BB ST RIMESC -

Limited (the “Listing Rules”)

ARBBEBRAAEEERBIORE
ARE BRREERBEEZRZ2ER
AREFRRAE - Z2BRE

further standards be put in place by reference to the BERE

The Company will continue to enhance the corporate
governance standards throughout the Group and ensure

recommended best practices whenever suitable and
appropriate.

2. CORPORATE MANAGEMENT 2. hEERE
i) Board of Directors i) EBEEg
Composition A
As the date of this report, the Board is comprised of RARERHR EF2HTEXE
10 members including 6 executive directors and 4 W BESRBRTEERNEE

independent non-executive directors. The biographical VR TES BHELEBEHNAAR
details are set out on pages 12 to 14 of this report. FREI12E148 -

The executive directors are responsible for managing the HITEZEEEEREE ¥
Group’s business, including the business development, PBIEERER CEXBREARK
corporate strategies and company policies. xR e
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The Independent Non-executive Directors serve an
important function of advising the management on
strategic development and ensuring that the Board
maintains high standards of financial and other
mandatory reporting standards as well as providing
adequate checks and balance for safeguarding the
interest of shareholders and the Company as a whole.
For the year ended 31 December 2008, the number of
Independent Non-executive Directors at all times exceed
one-third of the Board membership.

Pursuant to the Listing Rules, the Company has received
a written confirmation from each independent non-
executive director of his/her independence to the
Company.

None of the existing Independent Non-executive
Directors of the Company is appointed for a specific term
which constitutes a deviation from code provision A.4.1
of the CG Code, However, one-third of the Directors
of the Company (both executive and independent non-
executive) are subject to retirement by rotation at each
annual general meeting under the Articles of Association
of the Company. The Company considers that sufficient
measures have been taken to ensure that the Company’s
corporate governance practices are in line to those of the
CG Code.

The Board is comprised of professionally qualified and
diversified individuals.

FOREFRONT GROUP LIMITED # A &£BEHER A
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Nomination of Directors

The Board as a whole is responsible for the procedures of
appointment of board members and for nominating them
for election by shareholders on the initial appointment
and thereafter at regular intervals by rotation.

Board Process

The Board meets regularly throughout the year to discuss
the overall strategy as well as the operational and
financial performance of the Group. In 2008, the Board
held 30 meetings. Individual attendance records are set
out on page 28 of this Annual Report.

Directors who are considered having conflict of interests
or material interests in the proposed transactions or
issues to be discussed would not be counted in the
quorum of meeting and would abstain from voting on
the relevant resolutions subject to certain exceptions set
out in the Articles of Association of the Company.

The Company Secretary maintains the minutes of the
Board meetings for inspection by directors.

All directors have access to the services of the Company
Secretary who regularly updates the Board on corporate
governance and regulatory matters. Any Director, Audit
Committee member and Remuneration Committee
member of the Company may take independent
professional advice at the expense of the Company
should they so wish.

EEHEF
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Board and Board Committee attendance EFEREFZEEHEE
The following table indicates the number of Board and TERETEFEREETZEERN
Committee Meetings during the financial year and the AU HRFEANRTER BB RE
number of attendance by each of the Directors: EEHFEZEER 2R
Remuneration Audit
Board Committee Committee
Meetings Meetings Meetings
EZ28E FMZESE3 BERZESER
Independent BYFHITES
non-executive
Directors
Mr. Kwong Wai Tim, B#RTE
William 0/30 3/3 2/2
Mr. Chung Yuk Lun ERBLE 2/30 3/3 212
Ms. Lam Yan Fong, Flora  #k X5 22+ 4/30 3/3 22
Ms. Swartz Kristi Lynn Swartz Kristi Lynn#Z &= 6/30 - -
Executive Director BITES
Ms. Yau Shum Tek, Cindy ISR+ 111 - -
Mr. Yeung Ming Kwong #5835 % & 30/30 3/3 -
Mr. Ting Wing Cheung, T kE%4E
Sherman 28/30 - -
Ms. Lo Oi Kwok, Sheree  ZBE @I+ 27/30 - -
Mr. Zhou Qi Jin AaeitE 2/30 - -
Mr. Wen Louis BELE 12/30 - -
Mr. Zhuang You Dao HRERE 4/30 - -
Directors’ Duties EFCHBE

The Board is charged with leadership and supervision
of the Group’s affairs and is collectively responsible for
promoting the success of the Group. Each director has a
duty to act in good faith and in the best interests of the
Company.

FOREFRONT GROUP LIMITED # A &£BEHER A
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Matters that require decisions by the Board normally
include but not limited to the overall group strategies,
major acquisitions and disposals, annual budgets, annual
and interim results, recommendation on the appointment
or re-appointment of directors, and other significant
operational and financial matters.

All directors are kept informed on a timely basis of
major changes that may affect the Group’s businesses,
including relevant rules and regulations.

The Board acknowledges its responsibility to prepare
the financial statements and have them audited.
The Company has adopted the generally accepted
accounting standards in Hong Kong in preparing financial
statements. Reasonable and prudent judgment and
estimates have been made. The Group announces its
financial results on a timely basis.

Conduct on Share Dealings

The Company has adopted a code of conduct for
securities transactions and dealings (the “"Code of
Conduct”) based on the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers set out in
Appendix 10 of the Listing Rules (the “Model Code").
The terms of Code of Conduct are no less exacting
than the standards in the Model Code, and the Code of
Conduct applies to all the relevant persons as defined
therein. Specific enquiry has been made of all Directors
of the Company who have confirmed in writing of their
compliance with the required standards set out in the
Code of Conduct during the year under review.
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ii)

iii)

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

The Company does not have a designated position
of Chief Executive Officer. The daily operation and
management of the Company is monitored by the
Executive Directors.

On 27 February 2008, Ms. Yau Shum Tek, Cindy, resigned
from her post as Chairman due to health reasons. Mr.
Yeung Ming Kwong, executive director of the Company,
was appointed as acting Chairman of the Group.

Board Committees

In 2007, the Board established an Audit Committee
and a Remuneration Committee with defined terms of
reference. Both committees are chaired by Independent
Non-Executive Directors.

(a) Audit Committee

The Company has established an Audit Committee
for the purposes of reviewing and providing
supervision over the Group’s financial reporting
process and internal controls. The Audit Committee
comprises of three Independent Non-Executive
Directors of the Company.

The Audit Committee has reviewed the audit
findings, the accounting principles and practices
adopted by the Group, the listing rules and statutory
compliance, and has discussed auditing, internal
control, risk management and financial reporting
matters (including the interim and annual financial
statements) with the senior management and the
auditor before recommending them to the Board for
approval.

FOREFRONT GROUP LIMITED # A &£BEHER A
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(b) Remuneration Committee

The Company established a Remuneration
Committee responsible for review and determination
of the remuneration policy and packages of
the directors and management executives.
The Remuneration Committee comprises three
independent non-executive directors and one
Executive Director. The terms of reference of
the Remuneration Committee follow the CG
Code. No director is involved in deciding his own
remuneration.

iv) External Auditor

The fees payable to the Company’s auditor, Mazars CPA
Limited in respect of audit, review services and non-audit
services for the year ended 31 December 2008 amounted
to HK$670,000, HK$150,000 and HK$325,000
respectively.

INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board recognizes the overall responsibility for the
establishment, maintenance, and review of a system of
internal control that provides reasonable assurance of
the reliability and integrity of financial and operational
information, effectiveness and efficiency of operations, the
safeguarding of assets and the compliance with laws and
regulations. The system of internal control is designed to
manage rather than eliminate all risks of failure while its goal
is to provide reasonable but not absolute assurance regarding
the achievement of organisational objectives.
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TPEERRS
4. INVESTOR RELATIONS AND COMMUNICATIONS BREEMERAEE

The Company continues to pursue a proactive policy
of promoting investor relations and communication by
maintaining regular meetings with institutional shareholders,
fund managers and analysts through different means
including meetings, presentations and correspondence. In
an effort to enhance communications with shareholders
and investors, the Company maintains a website
(www.forefront.com.hk) to disseminate information relating
to the latest business developments and all Company
announcements.

The Company regards the Annual General Meeting (the
“"AGM") as an important event as it provides an opportunity
for direct communication between the Board and its
shareholders. All shareholders of the Company are given a
minimum of 21 days notice of the date and venue of the
AGM at which time the Directors and Committee members
are available to answer questions on the business. The
Company supports the CG Code’s principle to encourage
shareholder participation. The Board, according to the new
Listing Rules, will conduct voting at the forthcoming AGM by
poll. The results of the Company voting will be declared at the
meeting, and announced on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange
website and the Company website.

FOREFRONT GROUP LIMITED # A &£BEHER A
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Independent Auditor's Report

B M BED A

I MAZARS

To the shareholders of
Forefront Group Limited
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Forefront
Group Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively
referred to as the “Group”) set out on pages 35 to 122, which
comprise the consolidated and company balance sheets as at
31 December 2008, and the consolidated income statement,
consolidated statement of changes in equity and consolidated
cash flow statement for the year then ended, and a summary of
significant accounting policies and other explanatory notes.

Directors’ responsibility for the financial statements

The directors are responsible for the preparation and the true and
fair presentation of these financial statements in accordance with
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards issued by the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance. This
responsibility includes designing, implementing and maintaining
internal control relevant to the preparation and the true and fair
presentation of financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error; selecting and
applying appropriate accounting policies; and making accounting
estimates that are reasonable in the circumstances.

Auditor’s responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial
statements based on our audit and to report our opinion solely
to you, as a body. We do not assume responsibility towards or
accept liability to any other person for the contents of this report.
We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards
on Auditing issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants. Those standards require that we comply with ethical
requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable
assurance as to whether the financial statements are free from
material misstatement.

Mazars CPA LIMITED

5 2 et o s A R
34th Floor, The Lee Gardens,
33 Hysan Avenue, Causeway Bay, Hong Kong
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An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence
about the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements.
The procedures selected depend on our judgment, including the
assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial
statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk
assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the
entity’s preparation and true and fair presentation of the financial
statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an
opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An
audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting
policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made
by the directors, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of
the financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

Opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true
and fair view of the state of affairs of the Company and of the
Group as at 31 December 2008 and of the Group's loss and cash
flows for the year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards and have been properly prepared
in accordance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance.

Mazars CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong
3 April 2009

Fung Shiu Hang
Practising Certificate number: P04793
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Consolidated Income Statement
. N2
A W
Year ended 31 December 2008 #Z —ZEZENF+ _A=+—HIFFE
2008 2007
—EENE —EELF
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
B 3T THE T FHET
(Restated)
(&3)
Continuing operations BFEREER
Turnover = 3 (71,564) (51,774)
Other income H U A 3 9,919 18,518
Distribution and selling expenses DIEREERX = (331)
General and administrative expenses — M RITBAX (70,187) (128,386)
Changes in fair value of financial assets RERIRIE A T EEE 28
at fair value through profit or loss BEEZAFEED (142,310) (139,420)
Loss from operations KEEER (274,142) (301,393)
Finance costs Bh & B AR 4 (1,630) (24,250)
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries LERE QA Z W 31 5,648 -
Share of results of associates JEIRERE N B 2 ¥EE 13 4,464 1,860
Loss before taxation FRInATEE 4 (265,660) (323,783)
Taxation T8 7 _ _
Loss for the year REKEEB CFNERE
from continuing operations (265,660) (323,783)
Discontinued operations BRIEREEK
Loss for the year ERIEREXEB 2 FRNER
from discontinued operations 8 (8,642) (9,404)
Loss for the year FANEE (274,302) (333,187)
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2008 2007
—EENE —ETLF
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
B & FET FHETT
(Restated)
(Z5)
Attributable to: AR AL RE(L
Equity holders of the parent SARIRERE A 9 (274,302) (333,187)
Minority interest D E R R ER - -
(274,302) (333,187)
Dividend BE - -
Basic loss per share: BRELEE: 10
From continuing operations RERFELEED
(HK cents per share) (B (31.62) (102.93)
From discontinued operations KEERIELEER
(HK cents per share) (#=REM) (1.03) (2.99)

FOREFRONT GROUP LIMITED # A &£BEHER A




Consolidated Balance Sheet

AR BE'

BEX

At 31 December 2008 R-_ZEZENE+_-_HA=+—H

2008 2007
—EEN\HF T F
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
B 2t FExT FAETT
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES EEREE
Non-current assets ERBEE
Investment properties "EWE 11 - 30,065
Property, plant and equipment W BB k& 12 2,316 1,187
Interests in associates AL E/NC] o Ea 13 37,218 32,754
Goodwill Bk 14 - 8,000
Available-for-sale financial assets AIHNERBEE 15 = -
39,534 72,006
Current assets RBEE
Financial assets at fair value RIEBRREAFEREZ
through profit or loss BB EE 16 98,748 209,975
Inventories FE 18 6,782 32,625
Loan receivables JEURE 5k 19 35,729 -
Trade and other receivables JEUE Z IR TR %
H e W 5k I8 20 23,841 19,477
Pledged deposits BERER 21 1,567 558
Bank balances and cash SRTHEFENRS 64,154 24,610
Cash balances maintained with broker TREERFZEE - 138,303
Interests in a subsidiary held for sale FIEHERHBR ﬂZ%f\:& - 2,315
Assets reclassified as held for sale ENOEARBELEZEE - 6,292
230,821 434,155
Current liabilities RBAE
Trade and other payables T E 5 iR R %
H A FE A /I8 22 17,806 19,232
Interest-bearing borrowings FEEE 23 27,274 14,885
Zero coupon convertible notes ZEEAMRER 24 = 225,160
45,080 259,277
Net current assets REEEFE 185,741 174,878
NET ASSETS EEFE 225,275 246,884
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Consolidated Balance Sheet
mMEeEBEEBMEXR

At 31 December 2008 R-—EZENFE+_-_HA=+—H

2008 2007
—EENE ZETLF
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
i FER FABT
Equity and reserves BEREE

Share capital [N 27 93,636 178,581
Reserves ] 131,639 68,303

Equity attributable to equity holders of BER A RERE A A B AHE
the parent 225,275 246,884
Minority interest DH R R E = -
TOTAL EQUITY REHAE 225,275 246,884

The financial statements on pages 35 to 122 were approved and FEIRINBEZUBREEHETEN-F
authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 3 April 2009 and TNFOMA=ZBHELEERNE LB TIE

are signed on behalf by: EREESE:
Yeung Ming Kwong Lo Oi Kwok, Sheree
BEX EEBR
Director Director
o EF
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Balance Sheet
EEABMEX

At 31 December 2008 R-_ZEZENE+_-_HA=+—H

2008 2007
—EENF —ZETLF
Notes HK$°000 HK$'000
B 7 THE T FAETT
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES EERERE
Non-current assets IRBEE
Interests in subsidiaries NN $ 17 212,462 441,456
Available-for-sale financial assets AENEMBEE 15 - -
212,462 441,456
Current assets RBEE
Trade and other receivables JEUE SRR &%
H b & W F IR 20 8 36
Pledged deposits BT 21 1,567 558
Bank balances and cash RITHEGFENRS® 21,617 19,183
23,192 19,777
Current liabilities RBaE
Other payables Hh JE 1~ 5B 22 2,185 1,326
Amounts due to subsidiaries JE B B A B3k IE 17(a) 22,890 32,702
Zero coupon convertible notes ZREABREER 24 — 225,160
25,075 259,188
Net current liabilities RBEaEFH (1,883) (239,411)
NET ASSETS EEFHE 210,579 202,045
Equity and reserves RER B
Share capital [N 27 93,636 178,581
Reserves 1 29 116,943 23,464
Total equity REAE 210,579 202,045

The financial statements on pages 35 to 122 were approved and
authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 3 April 2009 and
are signed on behalf by:

Yeung Ming Kwong
BBk
Director

EFE

FIISRINBE 2 BRERLCHEETGN _Z
TAFNAZBHETHENZELRHTIE
EREREE:

Lo Oi Kwok, Sheree
Director
EF
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
AR RERE R

For the year ended 31 December 2008 # 2 —FZENF+_-HA=+1—HIFZ

Attributable to the equity holders of the parent
BRARESAARE

Equity

Component

of Zero

Share Coupon Capital ~ Cumulative

Share Share Option  Convertible Capital ~ Redemption  Translation ~ Accumulated Minority Total
Capital Premium Reserve Notes Reserve Reserve Reserve Deficit Total Interest Equity

288

TREZEL
B RitEE  BERERE  EE¥5 Bl EAEEERE ERRERE  RHEA & JYBRREE  RESE
HK$'000 HKS$'000 HKS$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS$'000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HKS'000
TR TEn TEL TAL TR TEnL TEnL TAL TR TERL AL

At 1 January 2007 RZZE+E-F-H 43571 235,491 - - 10,482 1173 (5,381) (260,683) 24,659 - 24,659
Issuance of new shares B 90,985 150,202 - - - - - - 241,187 - 241,187
Issuance cost BTHA . (12,914) - - - - - - (12,914) - (12,914)
Zero coupon convertible  SERARREH
notes 30,000 120,000 - 99,840 - - - - 249,840 - 249,840
Share options granted RibERE - - 16,374 - - - - - 16,374 - 16,374
Exercise of share options ~ {1{F B iE 10,667 53,999 (16,374) - - - - - 48292 - 1829
Issuance of shares to ABM % B%17kf 33% 3788 - - - - - - 7,140 - 7,140
Disposal of unconsolidated & F{EHE 2
subsidiaries held for sale  AGANBAR - - - - - - 5,383 - 5,383 - 5,383
Tanslation adjustments ~ AEHE - - - - - - 110 - 110 - 110
Loss for the year EREE - - - - - - - (333,187) (333,187) - (333,187)
At 31 December 2007 RZF5tE
tZh=1-H 178,581 550,566 - 99,840 10,482 1173 12 (593,870) 246,884 - 246,884
At 1 January 2008 R=%3\§-A-A 178,581 550,566 - 99,840 10,482 1173 12 (593,870) 246,884 - 246,884
Issuance of shares HREEIRG
on rights issue 89,291 89,291 - - - - - - 178,582 - 178,582
Issuance of new shares Bk 91922 55,716 - - - - - - 147,638 - 147,638
Issuance cost BORA - (8913) - - - - - - (8913) - (8913)
Share options granted RHERE - - 6,239 - - - - - 6,239 - 6,39
Erercise of share options {7 (B fE 14,749 22,906 (6,239) - - - - - 31,416 - 31416
Redemption of zero coupon  EEEERATRKEH
convertible notes - - - (99,340) - - - (2,560) (102,400 - (102,400)
Translation adjustments £ EE - - - - - - 131 - 131 - 131
Capital reorganization ETE4 (280,907) - - - - - - 280,907 - - -
Loss for the year EREE - - - - - - - (274,302) (274,302) - (274,302)
At 31 December 2008 RZFENE
TZB=t-B 93,636 709,566 - - 10,482 11713 U3 (589,825) 225,275 - 225,275
Note: Cumulative translation reserve as at 1 January 2007 included a debit amount of i —ETEF—A—BZ2HhERERERSERE
HK$5,383,000 which is attributable to interests in unconsolidated subsidiaries RARERA M E QR 2 5 B 2 IR EE5,383,000
held for sale and a credit amount of HK$2,000 which is attributable to interests BITARR AR BE R MKz —FHHRE AR Z#
in a subsidiary incorporated in Mainland China. B (G 2 DR §H2,0008 7T ©

40 FOREFRONT GROUP LIMITED EAF &£ @ ER A 7



Consolidated Cash Flow Statement
,\\/T\/\fﬁi}ﬁfgig
Year ended 31 December 2008 #F —EZENF+ -H=+—HIF/F
2008 2007
—EEN\HF —EELF
Notes HK$°000 HK$'000
B 53 FHET T T
OPERATING ACTIVITIES REXK
Cash used in operations KEFTAR S 30 (155,924) (438,233)
Interest paid SXNERS (797) (250)
Net cash used in operating activities REEBRFTARSFE (156,721) (438,483)
INVESTING ACTIVITIES REED
Proceeds from disposal of property, LEWE BER&E
plant and equipment Fr18 3008 143 84
Interest received 2 E 577 6,388
Purchase of property, plant and equipment EE 1% B E MR (3,625) (1,909)
Purchase of investment property BEREMZE = (30,234)
Proceed on disposal of assets held for sale HE&EHIEHEEEMEHE 5,299 -
Proceed on disposal of subsidiaries HEMBA TF)’T@JK 31 1,214 -
Proceed on disposal of Taiwan subsidiaries & & &K B A
P15 7008 - 707
Deposit paid on a proposed investment MERBREI N ES (9,776) -
Acquisition of a subsidiary Ue Bg — B BT B A 7 = (100,000)
Acquisition of associates 1y B Bt 2 ) = (26,650)
Net cash used in investing activities WEEESFAR TR (6,168) (151,614)
FINANCING ACTIVITIES mEEE
Proceed from new bank and other LRI REMEER
borrowings Fris sk 18 37,500 15,000
Repayment of bank and other borrowings Eﬁaﬁﬂ&ﬁ{MﬁE (3,254) (115)
Proceeds from issue of convertible notes BT I TS RE = 750,000
Payments on issue of share A B|REEEITRG
on convertible notes T2 5KIE - (16,510)
Redemption of convertible notes & 0] AT #8 IR E E (320,000) (280,000)
Proceeds from issue of new shares BITHPIRATISFUE 326,220 241,187
Shares issue costs R% 17 8 77 Bk AN (8,913) (9,164)
Proceeds from issue of new shares based 1R 1% B A% & 51 2 3¢
on share option scheme FTR% 2 1S 3R 31,416 45,972
Proceeds from Jerry Liu Option 2R E M IR AT 15 38 - 2,320
Net cash generated from RETHRESREER
financing activities 62,969 748,690
Effect on cumulative translation B REREEE
adjustments 131 97
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Consolidated Cash Flow Statement
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Year ended 31 December 2008 #Z_—ZFZF/\F+-H=4+—HIFFE

42

2008 2007
—EENE ZETLF
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
B 5 THER FHET
Net (decrease) increase in cash and HeRBRESEEY
cash equivalents OR ) B nEEE (99,789) 158,690
Cash and cash equivalents FUIeReRBELEFEY
at beginning of year 165,510 6,820
Cash and cash equivalents FRz2BRERELEEY
at end of year 65,721 165,510
Analysis of cash and cash equivalents: BRE&RRESEBEY D!
Bank balances and cash RITHEGFENRS 64,154 24,610
Pledged deposits BEREX 1,567 558
Cash balance maintained with broker BERIEGEIRFP RS & - 138,303
65,721 163,471
Cash and cash equivalents included FAFELHEZHE QR
in subsidiary held for sale ZEERBEZEEY - 2,039
65,721 165,510
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Notes to the Financial Statements
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CORPORATION INFORMATION

Forefront Group Limited is a limited liability company
incorporated in Cayman Islands and its shares are listed
on the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”). The address of the registered office, principal
place of business, activities and particulars of the Company
and its subsidiaries are set out in the Corporation Information
and Report of the Directors.

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
Basis of preparation

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance
with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs")
and Hong Kong Accounting Standards (“HKAS") issued by
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
("HKICPA"), accounting principles generally accepted in Hong
Kong and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance. In addition, the financial statements
also comply with the applicable disclosure provisions of
the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited. The measurement basis used
in the preparation of these financial statements is historical
cost, except for financial assets at fair value through profit or
loss, which are measured at fair value.

These financial statements have been prepared on a basis
consistent with the accounting policies adopted in the 2007
financial statements. The adoption of the new/revised HKFRSs
that are relevant to the Group and effective from the current
year has had no significant effects on the results and financial
position of the Group and the Company for the current and
prior years. A summary of the principal accounting policies
adopted by the Group is set out below.
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PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Basis of measurement

The measurement basis used in the preparation of these
financial statements is historical cost, except for certain
financial instruments, which are measured at fair value, as
explained in the accounting policies set out below.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements comprise the financial
statements of the Company and all of its subsidiaries as
at 31 December each year. The financial statements of the
subsidiaries are prepared for the same reporting year as the
Company using consistent accounting policies.

All intra-group balance, transactions, income and expenses
and profits and losses resulting from intra-group transactions
are eliminated in full. The results of subsidiaries are
consolidated from the date on which the Group obtains
control and continue to be consolidated until the date that
such control ceased.

Minority interest represents the portion of profit or loss and
net assets not held by the Group and are presented separately
in the consolidated income statement and within equity in the
consolidated balance sheet, separately from equity holders
of the parent. Losses applicable to the minority in excess of
the minority’s interest in the subsidiary’s equity are allocated
against the interests of the Group except to the extent that
the minority has a binding obligation and is able to make an
additional investment to cover the losses.

Subsidiaries

A subsidiary is an entity, in which the Group has the power
to govern the financial and operating policies so as to obtain
benefits from its activities.

In the Company’s balance sheet, investments in subsidiaries
are stated at cost less impairment losses. The carrying amount
of the investment is reduced to its recoverable amount on
an individual basis. The results of subsidiaries are accounted
for by the Company on the basis of dividends received and
receivable.

FOREFRONT GROUP LIMITED # A &£BEHER A
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PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Associates

An associate is an entity in which the Group has significant
influence and which is neither a subsidiary nor a joint venture.

The Group’s investment in associate is accounted for under
the equity method of accounting. The consolidated income
statement includes the Group's share of the post-acquisition
results of the associate for the year. The consolidated
balance sheet includes the Group's share of the net assets
of the associate and also goodwill. The Group discontinues
recognising its share of further losses when the Group’s
share of losses of the associate equals or exceeds the carrying
amount of its interest in the associate, which includes any
long term interests that, in substance, form part of the
Group’s net investment in the associate.

Goodwill

Goodwill represents the excess of the cost of an acquisition
over the Group’s share of the fair value of the identifiable
assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities of the acquired
subsidiary and associate. Goodwill on acquisition of subsidiary
is recognised as a separate asset. Goodwill on acquisitions
of associates or jointly controlled entities is included in
interests in associates or jointly controlled entities. Goodwill
is carried at cost less accumulated impairment losses, which
is tested for impairment annually or more frequently if events
or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying value
may be impaired. For the purpose of impairment test and
determination of gain or loss on disposal, goodwill is allocated
to cash-generating units. An impairment loss on goodwill is
not reversed.

Any excess of the Group's interest in the net fair value of the
identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities over the
cost of acquisition of subsidiaries or associates at the date of
acquisition, after reassessment, is recognised immediately in
the income statement.
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PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Non-current assets held for sale

Non-current assets and disposal groups are classified as held
for sale if their carrying amount will be recovered principally
through a sale transaction rather than through continuing
use. This condition is regarded as met only when the sale is
highly probable and the asset or disposal group is available for
immediate sale in its present condition. Management must be
committed to the sale, which should be expected to qualify
for recognition as a completed sale within one year from the
date of classification. Non-current assets and disposal groups
classified as held for sale are measured at the lower of their
previous carrying amount and fair value less costs to sell.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less
accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment
losses. The cost of an item of property, plant and equipment
comprises its purchase price and any directly attributable costs
of bringing the asset to its working condition and location for
its intended use. Repair and maintenance are changed to the
income statement during the year in which they are incurred.

Depreciation is provided to write off the cost less accumulated
impairment losses of property, plant and equipment over
their estimated useful lives as set out below from the date on
which they are available for use and after taking into account
their estimated residual values, using the straight-line method,
at the following rates per annum:

Leasehold improvement 50%
Furniture and fixture 20%-50%
Motor vehicles 33%

Investment properties

Investment property is property which is held under leasehold
to earn rental income and/or for capital appreciation.
Investment property is stated at cost less accumulated
depreciation and accumulated impairment losses.

FOREFRONT GROUP LIMITED # A &£BEHER A
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PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Investment properties (Continued)

As the cost of the investment property cannot be allocated
reliably between the land element and building element, the
investment property is accounted for as if it is property held
under finance lease and depreciated over its estimated useful
live.

Depreciation is provided to write off the cost less accumulated
impairment losses of investment property over its estimated
useful lives of 75 years, using the straight-line method, after
taking into account its estimated residual value.

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when
the Group becomes a party to the contractual provisions of
the instruments and on a trade date basis.

A financial asset is derecognised when the Group's
contractual rights to future cash flows from the financial asset
expire or when the Group transfers the financial asset and the
Group has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards
of ownership of the financial asset. A financial liability is
derecognised only when the liability is extinguished, that
is, when the obligation specified in the relevant contract is
discharged, cancelled or expires.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss include
financial assets held for trading and financial assets
designated upon initial recognition as at fair value through
profit or loss. They are carried at fair value, with any resultant
gain and loss recognised in the income statement.

Financial assets are classified as held for trading if they
are (i) acquired principally for the purpose of selling in the
near future; (ii) part of a portfolio of identified financial
instruments that the Group manages together and has a
recent actual pattern of short-term profit-taking; or (iii)
derivatives that are not designated and effective hedging
instruments.
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PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss (Continued)

Financial assets are designated at initial recognition as at fair
value through profit or loss if (i) the designation eliminates
or significantly reduces the inconsistent treatment that
would otherwise arise from measuring the assets or liabilities
or recognising gains or losses on a different basis; or (ii)
they are part of a group of financial assets and/or financial
liabilities that are managed and their performance evaluated
on a fair value basis, in accordance with a documented
risk management strategy; or (iii) they contain embedded
derivatives that would need to be separately recorded.

Where a contract contains one or more embedded derivatives,
the entire hybrid contract may be designated as a financial
asset at fair value through profit or loss, except where the
embedded derivative does not significantly modify the cash
flows or it is clear that separation of the embedded derivative
is prohibited.

Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables including trade and other receivables
are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable
payments that are not quoted in an active market and are
not held for trading. They are measured at amortised cost
using the effective interest method, except where receivables
are interest-free loans and without any fixed repayment
term or the effect of discounting would be insignificant. In
such case, the receivables are stated at cost less impairment
loss. Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any
discount or premium on acquisition, over the year to maturity.
Gains and losses arising from de-recognition, impairment or
through the amortisation process are recognised in the income
statement.
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PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)
Available-for-sale financial assets

Available-for-sale financial assets are non-derivative financial
assets that are either designated at this category or not
classified in any of the other categories of financial assets.
They are measured at fair value with changes in value
recognised as a separate component of equity until the assets
are sold, collected or otherwise disposed of, or until the assets
are determined to be impaired, at which time the cumulative
gain or loss previously reported in equity is transferred to
the income statement. Available-for-sale financial assets that
do not have a quoted market price in an active market and
whose fair value cannot be reliably measured are stated at
cost less impairment loss.

Impairment of financial assets

At each balance sheet date, the Group assesses whether there
is objective evidence that financial assets, other than those at
fair value through profit or loss, are impaired. The impairment
loss of financial assets carried at amortised cost is measured
as the difference between the assets’ carrying amount and
the present value of estimated future cash flow discounted
at the financial asset’s original effective interest rate. Such
impairment loss is reversed in subsequent periods through
income statement when an increase in the asset’s recoverable
amount can be related objectively to an event occurring after
the impairment was recognised, subject to a restriction that
the carrying amount of the asset at the date the impairment is
reversed does not exceed what the amortised cost would have
been had the impairment not been recognised.
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PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

When an available-for-sale financial asset is impaired, an
amount comprising the difference between its acquisition cost
(net of any principal repayment and amortisation) and current
fair value, less any previously recognised impairment loss,
is transferred from equity to income statement. Impairment
losses recognised in profit or loss in respect of available-for-
sale equity instrument are not reversed through profit or
loss. Any subsequent increase in fair value of available-for-
sale equity instrument after recognition of impairment loss is
recognised in equity. Reversal of impairment loss of available-
for-sale debt instruments are reversed through the income
statement, if the increase in fair value of the instrument
can be objectively related to an event occurring after the
impairment loss was recognised in the income statement.

For an available-for-sale financial asset that is carried at cost,
the amount of impairment loss is measured as the difference
between the carrying amount of the financial asset and the
present value of estimated future cash flows discounted at the
current market rate of return for a similar financial asset. Such
impairment loss shall not be reversed.

Financial liabilities

The Group’s financial liabilities include trade and other
payables, bank loans and other borrowings. All financial
liabilities except for derivatives are recognised initially at their
fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost, using
effective interest method, unless the effect of discounting
would be insignificant, in which case they are stated at cost.

Convertible notes

The component of the convertible note that exhibits
characteristics of a liability is recognised as a liability in
the balance sheet, net of issue costs. On the issue of the
convertible note, the fair value of the liability component
is determined using a market rate for an equivalent non-
cumulative bond; and this amount is carried as a long-term
liability on the amortised cost basis until extinguished on
conversion or redemption.
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PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Convertible notes (Continued)

The remainder of the proceeds is allocated to the conversion
option that is recognised and included in shareholders’ equity,
net of issue costs. The value of the conversion option carried
in equity is not changed in subsequent years.

Issue costs are apportioned between the liability and equity
components of the convertible note based on the allocation
of proceeds to the liability and equity components when the
instruments are first recognised.

Cash equivalents

For the purpose of the consolidated cash flow statement,
cash equivalent represent short-term highly liquid investments
which are readily convertible into known amounts of cash and
which are subject to an insignificant risk of change in value,
net of bank overdrafts.

Revenue recognition

Revenue is recognised when it is probable that the economic
benefits will flow to the Group and when the revenue and
costs, if applicable, can be measured reliably and on the
following bases.

Realised gain or loss on investments held for trading is
recognised on a trade date basis whilst unrealised gain or loss
on investment held for trading is recognised to reflect their
fair value on the balance sheet date.

Sale of goods is recognised on transfer of risks and rewards of
ownership, which generally coincides with the time when the
goods are delivered to customers and the title is passed.

Service income and fuel commission income are recognised
when services are rendered.

Finance income from loan receivables and interest income
from financial asset is accrued on a time basis, by reference
to the principal outstanding and at the effective interest rate
applicable.
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PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Foreign currency translation

ltems included in the financial statements of each of the
Group's entities are measured using currency of the primary
economic environment in which the entity operates (“the
functional currency”). The consolidated financial statements
are presented in Hong Kong dollars, which is the Group’s
functional and presentation currency.

Transactions involving foreign currencies are translated into
functional currency at the rates of exchange prevailing at the
date of transaction.

Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the
settlement of such transactions and from the translation at
year-end exchange rates of monetary assets and liabilities
denominated in foreign currencies are recognised in the
income statement.

The results and financial position of all the Group entities that
have a functional currency different from the presentation
currency (“foreign operations”) are translated into the
presentation currency as follows:

e Assets and liabilities for each balance sheet presented are
translated at the closing rate at the balance sheet date;

e Income and expenses for each income statement are
translated at average exchange rate;

e All resulting exchange differences arising from the
above translation and exchange differences arising from
a monetary item that forms part of the Group's net
investment in a foreign operation are recognised as a
separate component of equity. On disposal of a foreign
operation, the cumulative amount of the exchange
differences deferred in the separate component of
equity relating to that foreign operation is recognised in
income statement when the gain or loss on disposal is
recognised.
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PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Cost which comprises all costs of purchase and, where
applicable, costs of conversion and other costs that have been
incurred in bringing the inventories to their present location
and condition. For motor vehicles, cost is determined on
the specific identification basis, while for other inventories,
cost is calculated using the weighted average cost method.
Net realisable value represents the estimated selling price in
the ordinary course of business less the estimated costs of
completion and the estimated costs necessary to make the
sale.

Impairment of non-financial assets

At each balance sheet date, the Group reviews internal
and external sources of information to determine whether
property, plant and equipment have suffered an impairment
loss or impairment loss previously recognised no longer
exists or may be reduced. If any such indication exists, the
recoverable amount of the asset is estimated, based on the
higher of its fair value less costs to sell and value in use.
Where it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount
of an individual asset, the Group estimates the recoverable
amount of the smallest group of assets that generates cash
flows independently (i.e. a cash-generating unit).

If the recoverable amount of an asset or a cash-generating
unit is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the
carrying amount of the asset or cash-generating unit is
reduced to its recoverable amount. An impairment loss is
recognised as an expense immediately.

A reversal of impairment loss is limited to the carrying amount
of the asset or cash-generating unit that would have been
determined had no impairment loss been recognised in prior
years. Reversal of impairment loss is recognised as income
immediately.
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PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present
legal or constructive obligation as a result of past events, it is
probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic
benefits will be required to settle the obligation, and a
reliable estimate of the amount of obligation can be made.
Expenditures for which a provision has been recognised are
charged against the related provision in the year in which
the expenditures are incurred. Provisions are reviewed at
each balance sheet date and adjusted to reflect the current
best estimate. Where the effect of the time value of money
is material, the amount provided is the present value of the
expenditures expected to be required to settle the obligation.
Where the Group expects a provision to be reimbursed, the
reimbursement is recognised as a separate asset but only
when the reimbursement is virtually certain.

Operating lease

Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the terms
of the lease transfer substantially all the risks and rewards
of ownership to the lessee. All other leases are classified as
operating leases.

Rentals payable under operating leases are charged to the
income statement on a straight-line basis over the term of the
relevant lease.

Lease incentives are recognised in the income statement as
an integral part of the net consideration agreed for the use
of the leased asset. Contingent rentals are recognised as
expenses in the accounting period in which they are incurred.

Employee benefits
Defined contribution plans

The obligations for contributions to defined contribution
retirement schemes are recognised as expenses in the income
statement as incurred. The assets of the schemes are held
separately from those of the Group in an independently
administered fund.
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PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Employee benefits (Continued)
Long service payment

The Group's net obligation in respect of long service payment
under the Hong Kong Employment Ordinance is the amount
of future benefit that employees have earned in return for
their service in the current and prior periods. The obligation
is calculated using the projected unit credit method and
discounted to its present value and after deducting the fair
value of any related assets, including retirement scheme
benefit.

Share based payment transactions
Equity-settled transactions

The Company issues equity-settled share-based payments to
eligible employees including directors of the Company and its
subsidiaries, any other persons including consultants, advisors,
agents, customers, suppliers etc. to subscribe for shares in the
Company. Equity-settled share-based payments are measured
at fair value at the date of grant. The fair value determined
at the grant date of the equity-settled share-based payments
is expensed on a straight-line basis over the vesting period,
based on the Group’s estimate of shares that will eventually
vest and adjusted for the effort of non market-based vesting
conditions.
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PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Taxation

The charge for current income tax is based on the results
for the year as adjusted for items that are non-assessable
or disallowed. It is calculated using tax rates that have been
enacted or substantively enacted by the balance sheet date.

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method, on all
temporary differences at the balance sheet date between the
tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts
in the financial statements. However, any deferred tax arises
from initial recognition of goodwill; or other asset or liability
in a transaction other than a business combination that at the
time of the transaction affects neither the accounting profit
nor taxable profit or loss is not recongised.

The deferred tax liabilities and assets are measured at the tax
rates that are expected to apply to the period when the asset
is recovered or the liability is settled, based on tax rates and
tax laws that have been enacted or substantively enacted at
the balance sheet date. Deferred tax assets are recognised to
the extent that it is probable that future taxable profit will be
available against which the deductible temporary differences,
tax losses and credits can be utilised.
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PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Related parties

A party is related to the Group if (a) directly, or indirectly
through one or more intermediaries, the party controls, is
controlled by, or is under common control with, the Group; or
has an interest in the Group that gives it significant influence
over the Group; or has joint control over the Group; (b) the
party is an associate of the Group; (c) the party is a joint
venture in which the Group is a venturer; (d) the party is a
member of the key management personnel of the Group or
its parent; (e) the party is a close member of the family of any
individual referred to in (a) or (d); (f) the party is an entity that
is controlled, jointly controlled or significantly influenced by or
for which significant voting power in such entity resides with,
directly or indirectly, any individual referred to in (d) or (e); or
(g) the party is a post-employment benefit plan for the benefit
of employees of the Group, or of any entity that is a related
party of the Group.

Segment reporting

A segment is a distinguishable component of the Group that
is engaged either in providing products or services (business
segment), or in providing products or services with a particular
economic environment (geographical segment), which is
subject to risks and rewards that are different from those of
other segments.

In accordance with the Group's internal financial reporting,
the Group has determined that business segments be
presented as the primary reporting format and geographical
segment as the secondary reporting format.
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PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Segment reporting (Continued)

Unallocated costs represent corporate expenses. Segment
assets consist primarily of property, plant and equipment,
inventories, receivables, operating cash and investments in
securities. Segment liabilities comprise operating liabilities
and exclude items such as taxation and certain corporate
borrowings. Capital expenditure comprises additions to
property, plant and equipment, including additions resulting
from acquisitions through purchases of subsidiaries.

In respect of geographical segment reporting, sales are
based on the destination of shipment of merchandise and
total assets and capital expenditure are where the assets are
located.

Critical accounting estimates and judgements

Estimates, assumptions concerning the future and judgements
are made in the preparation of the financial statements. They
affect the application of the Group’s accounting policies,
reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income and expenses,
and disclosures made. They are assessed on an on-going
basis and are based on experience and relevant factors,
including expectations of future events that are believed to
be reasonable under the circumstances. Where appropriate,
revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the period
of revision and future periods, in case the revision also affects
future periods.
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2. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Critical accounting estimates and judgements (Continued)
Impairment of investments and receivables

The Group assesses annually if investment in subsidiaries/
associates has suffered any impairment in accordance with
HKAS 36 and follows the guidance of HKAS 39 in determining
whether amounts due from these entities are impaired. Details
of the approach are stated in the respective accounting
policies. The assessment requires an estimation of future cash
flows, including expected dividends, from the assets and the
selection of appropriate discount rates. Future changes in
financial performance and position of these entities would
affect the estimation of impairment loss and course the
adjustments of their carrying amounts.

Impairment of goodwill

The Group determines whether goodwill is impaired at
least on an annual basis. This requires an estimation of
the value in use of the cash-generating units to which the
goodwill is allocated. Estimating the value in use requires
the Group to make an estimate of the expected cash flows
from the cash-generating unit and also to choose a suitable
discount rate in order to calculate the present value of
those cash flows. Details of the estimates used to calculate
the recoverable amount are given in note 14. Estimates,
assumptions concerning the future and judgements are
made in the preparation of the financial statements. They
affect the application of the Group’s accounting policies,
reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income and expenses,
and disclosures made. They are assessed on an on-going
basis and are based on experience and relevant factors,
including expectations of future events that are believed to be
reasonable under the circumstances
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PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Critical accounting estimates and judgements (Continued)
Allowance for inventories

The Group reviews an ageing analysis of inventories at each
balance sheet date, and make allowance for obsolete and
slow-moving inventory items identified that are no longer
recoverable or suitable for use. The management estimates
the net realised value for inventory based primarily on the
latest invoice prices and current market conditions. The Group
carries out an inventory review on a product-by-product basis
at each balance sheet date and makes allowances for obsolete
items.

Allowance for bad and doubtful debts

The provisioning policy for bad and doubtful debts of the
Group is based on the evaluation of collectability and ageing
analysis of the trade and loan receivables. A considerable
amount of judgement is required in assessing the ultimate
realisation of these receivables, including the current
creditworthiness and the past collection history of each
customer. If the financial conditions of these customers were
to deteriorate, resulting in an impairment of their ability to
make payments, additional allowance will be required.
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PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Future charges in HKFRSs

At the date of authorisation of these financial statements,
the HKICPA has issued a number of the following new/revised
HKFRSs that are not yet effective for the current year, which
the Group has not early adopted.

HKFRS 8
HKAS 1 (Revised)
HKAS 23 (Revised)

Amendments
to HKFRS 2
Amendments
to HKAS 32 and
HKAS 1
Amendments
to HKFRS 1 and
HKAS 27
HKFRS 3 (Revised)

HKAS 27 (Revised)
HKFRS 1 (Revised)
Amendments

to HKAS 39
Improvements

to HKFRS
HK(IFRIC) — Int 13

HK(FRIC) — Int 16
HK(IFRIC) — Int 15

HK(FRIC) — Int 17

Operating Segments’

Presentation of Financial Statements'

Borrowing Costs'

Share-based Payment — Vesting
Conditions and Cancellations!

Puttable Financial Instruments and
Obligations Arising on Liquidations'

Cost of an Investment in a Subsidiary,
Jointly Controlled Entity or
Associate!

Business Combinations?

Consolidated and Separate Financial
Statements?

First-time adoption of HKFRS?

Eligible Hedge Items?

Improvements to HKFRS?

Customer Loyalty Programmes*

Hedges of a Net Investment in a

Foreign Operation®

Agreements for the Construction of
Real Estate’

Distributions of non-cash Assets to
Owners'

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2009

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2009

3 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2009 except
for the amendments to HKFRS 5 which are effective for annual periods
beginning on or after 1 July 2009

4 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2008

5 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 October 2008
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2. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 2. FEBHHER(£E)
Future charges in HKFRSs (Continued) ERMBEHREERZRREE (£F)
The directors are in the process of assessing the possible EEREFHABREMRZETR] KB
impact on the future adoption of these new/revised HKFRSs, A EBM B mEER R RREN 2 FE
but are not yet in a position to reasonably estimate their M REEHE R AR ASH
impact on the Group's financial statements. MHReTE-
3. TURNOVER AND REVENUE 3. EXHERKEHE
Turnover and revenue recognised by category are analysed as EoBmRACEEFERKEONET
follows:
2008 2007
—EENE —ETLF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET
(Restated)
(&%)
(a) Turnover (a) EX%E
Continuing operations REBEEED
Net loss on disposal of HERBERIREATERE
financial assets at fair value ZUHBEECEIEFE
through profit or loss (note 3(c)) (FF#E3(c)) (80,823) (52,213)
Finance income from loan receivables FEWER 2 mE KA 9,259 439
(71,564) (51,774)
Discontinued operations BRI EK
Sale of motor trucks, coaches and HEESE REETRAE
vehicle accessories fic 4 48,966 60,857
Provision of motor vehicle repairs RETBHERRERE
and maintenance services 5,251 23,728
Fuel commission income BREHA & WA 936 3,253
55,153 87,838
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TURNOVER AND REVENUE (Continued)

3. BEHERWE(E)

2008 2007
“EE\E ZETHE
Continued Discontinued Continued ~ Discontinued
operations  operations Total operations operations Total
BE BAL e B8
feEy REEy ast BEER LERH ey
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TiER THx T#n FiET TR Ti#n
(b)  Other income () EflA
Interest income FEKMA 577 152 729 6,267 121 6,388
Gain on disposal of HERKGAMNBARZ
interest in unconsolidated Erns s
subsidiaries - - - 1,422 - 1,422
Negative goodwill recognised KEBELARERL
on acquisition of associate AEE = - - 4,244 - 4,244
Gain on redemption of zero BOZRRA#
coupon convertible notes ES it 8,393 - 8,393 6,240 - 6,240
Gain on disposal of property, LENE BRER
plant and equipment FE2WH - - - - 83 83
Others it 949 141 1,090 345 1,225 1,570
9,919 293 10,212 18,518 1,429 19,947
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3. TURNOVER AND REVENUE (Continued)

(c) Net loss on disposal of financial assets at fair value

through profit or loss

The Group's proceeds from the disposal of financial
assets at fair value through profit or loss and the
corresponding carrying amount were separated into
“Turnover” and “Cost of investments held for trading
sold”, respectively, in the prior year's consolidated
income statement. During the current year, the Group
changed its presentation, as in the opinion of the
directors, it is more appropriate to present the gain/
loss from the disposal of financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss in “Turnover” on a net basis. The
effect of this change in presentation was to decrease
revenue and cost of investment held for trading sold for
the year ended 31 December 2008 by HK$233,935,000,
representing the carry amount of investments at fair
value through profit or loss disposed of during the
year. To conform with the current year's presentation,
the carrying amount of financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss disposed of for the year ended
31 December 2007 of HK$720,463,000 has been offset
against revenue, resulting in a decrease in revenue and
cost of investments held for trading sold for that year by
the same amount. This has resulted in no change in the
results of the Group in respect of the current and prior
year.
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BEZBREREEZREED
AIBIEXBI RHEREEER
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HIRRATFEREZHBEEEZI
m/BIEEARRE WASERAE
FEEREBA2I X -EREHA
EINAAZEERFHE_TTN
FH+-_A=+—BALFEZKIE
MEBEEERE 2K AR D
233,935,000/ T ' BN FAFTH &
REBRIREAFERBEZRE 2K
EE -BHEEAFEZZ25 A B
EZTTHF+ZA=1+—HILHF
EREERERRIEAFEREEY
B 7% & E 2 RTE{E720,463,000/%8
TEHEEEHEE SRZFEZR
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4. LOSS BEFORE TAXATION 4. BRBEATEE
This is stated after charging (crediting): R ATEBRLSHR (FFA) TAIZERZ
I :
2008 2007

“EENE ZET4E

Continued Discontinued Continued ~ Discontinued
operation operation Total operation operation Total

B BRI BE SRS
Bexy ReExy At Bexk RExK &t

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET TEx TEx TEL AL TAL

(a)  Finance costs

Interest on interest-bearing
borrowings wholly repayable
within five years

Interest on interest-bearing
borrowings wholly repayable
after five years

Amortisation of effective
interest on convertible notes

Interest paid to supplier and
broker

(@)

RERK

ERIERZHER
ZEAEHEEZHE
797 - 797 - - -

BHTREREL

BRAE 833 - 833 24,000 - 24,000
ENHEEAR

REELZFIE - - - 78 702 780

1,630 - 1,630 24,250 702 24,952
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4. LOSS BEFORE TAXATION (Continued) 4. BRBATEE (&)
2008 2007
“EE\E ZETHE
Continued Discontinued Continued ~ Discontinued
operation operation Total operation operation Total
BE BAL e RIS
feEy ReExy @it BEER LERH by
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TiEn THx T#r FiET TR TR
(b)  Other items HitEE
Auditor's remuneration P ETE 670 150 820 600 370 970
Depreciation of investment REMZURDE
property and property, BRERZENE
plant and equipment 134 2,091 2,225 169 2,148 2,317
Operating lease charges MELEREZH
on premises 50 2,309 2,359 14 5,495 5,509
Share-based payment in respect BBEREINRRZHZ
of share option (note 28(b)) B (FEE28(0)) 6,239 - 6,239 14,762 - 14,762
Provision for doubtful debts AEEE 44,240 146 44,386 - 61 61
Allowance for trade and ERESEARA
other receivables ElFERERE
written back (98) (55) (153) (311) (149) (460)
Loss (Gain) on exchange EXEE (i) 4 (5) (1) - (3) 3)
Staff costs, including directors’ BIMA BEEEME:
emoluments:
~ Salaries and other -HeRHERE
allowances 10,450 6,156 16,606 3,985 14,265 18,250
~ Contributions to pension —RRSHEEK
schemes 48 271 325 49 638 687
Impairment of goodwill BERE(BHATR
included in administrative f%)
expenses 8,000 - 8,000 67,000 - 67,000
Allowance on inventories FERE - 516 516 - 1,932 1,932
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5. DIRECTORS' REMUNERATION 5. EEMe
The remuneration of the Company’s directors is as follows: AAREFZHMEEIOT
Year ended 31 December 2008 2007
HE-ZEN\F+ZA=t-HLEFE g 3

Basic Mandatory
salaries,  Provident

Appointed  Resigned allowance Fund
during during and other scheme
the year the year Fees benefits contribution Total Total

9.3 5 B

=474 AR
Name of Director Esps REREE REABE we | HitEA HE [ @t B
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHT FER TaERT FETL

Mr. Alistair Macleod Alistair Macleod & & - - - - - - 90
Mr. Arne Karlsson Arne Karlsson4t 4 - - - - - - 90
Mr. Cheong Ying Chew REBLE - - - - - - 90
Mr. Lau Siu Ki BELEAE - - - - - - 90
Mr. Wen Louis BRLE - - - 613 - 613 920
Mr. Kelvin Edward Flynn Kelvin Edward Fiynnst & - - - - - - 90
Mr. Fung Kwok Leung BEIR 4 - - - - - - 49
Ms. Huang Li BRLT - - - - - - 29
Mr. Wu Wing Kit HKGEE - - - - - - 5
Ms. Yang Xiao Feng BREELt - - - - - - 5
Mr. Sun Ka Ziang BrEits - - - - - - 15
Ms. Yau Shum Tek, Cindy ~ BBRE 2+ - 27 Feb - 100 2 102 431
(Note) (MsE) ZAZttH
Mr. Zhou Qi Jin AHELE - - - 360 - 360 253
Ms. Lo Oi Kwok, Sheree  ZEFBLL - - - 520 12 532 376
Mr. Yeung Ming Kwong BRLEE - - - 420 12 432 294
Mr. Kwong Wai Tim, William #7544 - - 187 - - 187 137
Mr. Chung Yuk Lun BEBRE - - 187 - - 187 137
Mr. Ting Wing Cheung TKELE - - - 420 12 432 269
Ms. Lam Yan Fong, Flora  #iiF &+ - - 187 - - 187 75
Ms. Swartz Kristi Lynn Swartz Kristi LynnZ & - - 187 - - 187 54
Mr. Lam Kwan Sing WEHRE - - - - - - 160
Mr. Zhuang You Dao AREEAE - - - 270 - 270 102
748 2,703 38 3,489 3,761
Note: During the year, the Group paid salaries and allowance of HK$541,500 Miz: R AEERERH LT MEHS KRR
to Ms. Yau Shum Tek, Cindy, in which HK$102,000 was paid for the 541,500/ 7T * & #1102,0004 7T Jh 5t H H 1
capacity as director of the Company as disclosed above; the balance was RABER (W EXFERE) M #BRE
paid during the period of which she was not acting as director of the REFABHEARAESZHME I F-
Company.
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5. DIRECTORS' REMUNERATION (Continued)

No director waived any emoluments during the year. No
incentive payment nor compensation for loss of office
was paid or payable to any director for the year ended 31
December 2008 (2007: Nil).

6. INDIVIDUALS WITH HIGHEST EMOLUMENTS

Among the five individuals with the highest emoluments,
three (2007: none) are executive directors whose emoluments
are disclosed in note 5.

The emoluments paid to the remaining two (2007: five)
individuals during the year were as follows:

EEME (&)
FRLBESHETMOMHE -NBE-F
ENFE+_A=+—"BLFE A&H
14 [ ) B8 =2 ST SR SR AT SRR A
RECHMBEE (—FFLF HF) -

EeEHAL

AfNGEEHFALTYF BE=ZU(ZFEZF+
FE)BRNTES BEZMEE M
FESA T BE o

FRECNESRMLL (—FFLF: als)
RRFALTZHMEWT:

2008 2007
—EENF —ETEF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FERT FHT
Basic salaries and allowances HEAR @ MoERL 1,156 6,443
Mandatory Provident Fund scheme REM AR
contributions 24 24
1,180 6,467
The emoluments fell within the following band: e FUATEE:

Number of individuals

A
2008 2007
—EENE —EELF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHE T FHETT
HK$Nil = HK$1,000,000 Z 3T 51,000,000 7T 2 -
HK$1,000,001 — HK$ 1,500,000 1,000,001% 7t £ 1,500,000/ 7T - 5
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INDIVIDUALS WITH HIGHEST EMOLUMENTS 6. BEFAL (&)

(Continued)

During the year, no payments were paid to the five highest

FA-AEEYERAAUESHEAL (B

paid individuals (including directors and other employees) REEREMEB) I NHIE EAS
as inducement to join or upon joining the Group or as By nBAsk iR AR B Iy 2 B S BB
compensation for loss of office. B

TAXATION 7. BE

ARBRFEEREEMAL YRR
BMRAEHERBE - HRARE REM
BRARAR-_ZEZNGFR_ZETLFIE
FERR T A TR R A HRE B IAE
HAFEE Z BRBS N 8RB

The Company is incorporated in the Cayman Islands and is
exempted from taxation in the Cayman Islands. Hong Kong
Profits Tax has not been provided in the financial statements
as the Company and its subsidiaries either have no assessable
profits or have unutilised tax losses to set off against current

year's assessable profits both for the years of 2008 and 2007. BEFTREBNESHEE-
Reconciliation of tax expenses T 15 B X ¥ iR
2008 2007
—ZEENE ZETLF
HK$'000 HK$'000
TER FHET
Loss before taxation from continuing and #3548 K& B #% | F & & 275 2 B R AT
discontinued operation B8 (274,302) (333,187)
Income tax at Hong Kong Profits Tax rate & & BB H E16.5%
of 16.5% (2007: 17.5%) (ZEZT+F:17.5% )82
PS5t (45,260) (58,308)
Net effect of non-deductible expenses/ TR HIFIBAST iz 2
tax-exempted revenue R 1,361 23,243
Unrecognised temporary differences REER B =5 99 206
Utilisation of previously unrecognised ) A AR R
tax losses FIEE 8 (265) (495)
Unrecognised deferred tax assets FHMEERE 2 RER
in respect of tax losses FRAERIBEE 44,065 35,354

Taxation as per income statement

Y &8 3R P51 2 B8 08
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DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS

Discontinued operations include trading of motor vehicle and

vehicle accessories, provision of motor vehicle repairs and

maintenance services and provision of fuel chain services.

(a)

(b)

Termination of Scania distributorship

Reference is made to the annual report of year 2007 and
related announcements. The Group and Scania CV AB
agreed to terminate the distributorship of Scania vehicle
and accessories in Hong Kong and Macau effective from
1 April 2008. Certain assets of the Group were disposed
to Scania at HK$11,416,000 in aggregate.

Disposal of U-Drive Company Limited

During the year, the Group disposed of its entire interest
in a 93.7% indirectly-held subsidiary, U-Drive Company
Limited ("U-Drive"), to Golden Fame International
Investments Group Limited, an associate of the Group,
at a consideration of HK$2,000,000 on 30 May 2008
and recognised a gain of approximately HK$2,000,000.
The principal activity of U-Drive was investment
holding and provision of fuel chain services to vehicle
customers. The profit of U-Drive from 1 January 2008
up to the date of disposal amounting to HK$823,000
(2007: profit of HK$2,414,000) has been included in loss
from discontinued operation in the income statement.
The comparative information in relation to income and
cash flow statement and the related notes attributable
to discontinued operations have been restated as
discontinued operations in the current year.

FOREFRONT GROUP LIMITED # A &£BEHER A

8. DRIKREER
DRI SE BB E TSR AER
IR EEE S RIRE RIS A R R 1
R 32 44 AR TS o

(a)

(b)

# 1k Scaniap 5 #E
EELH TS EFFREAEEA
o AREE HScania CV ABR T X
IEB#Scania/a s REC R AR
BrzoiEE AT N\FNA—
HEER ANEBETEERRSE
#£11,416,000/8 7T i & FScania °

HEERITERAT

FR AEER_ZZENFERA
“tHRASEZBERARSER
HREAEBAERARLELAEER
FRTERAR ([FRHRT) A&
EREEAB IR ERZMBAT)
ZEEbHE s K (& /2,000,000
T+ I W FR U &S 492,000,000 7T
FROTZEFEEBRAREZERRMA
AEEPRHEMEEHRS A=
EENF-A—BEREBHHL
17 2% 71823,0008 L (= F
FLF 5 F2,414,000/ T ) B R
WamRPATADKRIELEEB2E
BoliBZR KBS RERTEHD
IR T 2 LR B R AR B
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8. BRILBERY (&)
BRIEEEEY Y FARMBARD N

8. DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS (Continued)

(c) Analysis of loss for the year from discontinued (o)
operation

AN ER 2B RIEREERS O

XBEIRN T - WamkEBReRE

KPP AR IEREEB IHEREA

B RABEMNGZFEREAFEEYAD

BIEEEEB (MBFRE) -

The combined results of the discontinued operations
included in the income statement are set out below.
The comparative information in relation to income and
cash flow statement and related notes attributable
to discontinued operations have been restated as
discontinued operation, where necessary, in the current

year.

2008 2007
—EENF —EELF
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
! FHET T T
Loss for the year from ERIEREEL 2
discontinued operations FAEE
Turnover R 3 55,153 87,838
Less: Cost of sales i ¢ S KA (51,031) (73,930)
4,122 13,908
Other income H g A 3 293 1,429
Expenses X (13,057) (24,747)
Loss before taxation FRIATER (8,642) (9,404)
Taxation g - -
Loss for the year from ERIEEEEB
discontinued operations FNEE (8,642) (9,404)
Cash flows from BRIEREEK 2
discontinued operations REeERE
Net cash flows generated from E BTG (FrA)
(used in) operating activities BeRE T8 16,471 (21,651)
Net cash flows generated from WEEEFE (FTA)
(used in) investing activities HWeEREFH 1,968 (1,826)
Net cash flows (used in) generated B EE) (BT ) AT1E
from financing activities MeMEFHE (12,970) 23,549
Net cash inflows WEMAFRE 5,469 72
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8. DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS (Continued)

(d) Interest in a subsidiary held for sale

On 1 April 2008, the Group entered into an agreement
with Scania in relation to the disposal of a subsidiary
in PRC amounting to approximately HK$2,200,000
to a subsidiary of Scania. The Group's interest in this
subsidiary of HK$2,315,000 was reclassified as held for

sale in the financial statements of year 2007.

Since certain conditions as set out in the agreement have
not been fulfilled within nine months after the date of
agreement, the agreement was deemed to be terminated
and ceased to have effect. Accordingly, the interest in
this subsidiary is no longer classified as held for sale as at

31 December 2008.

(e) Assets reclassified as held for sale

As required by HKFRSs, the Group has reclassified
property, plant and equipment, inventories to be
disposed to Scania as assets held for sale in the financial

statements of year 2007:

8. BRILBERY (&)
(d) HfFH SR AR 2 E

(e)

RZEEZNFMHA—B AEEHE
Scania®t A Scania— & M & A 7
£ 492,200,000/ 7T 2 BIFT B A 7
R —EHp@E - AEEREHBA
R Z#£2%52,315,0008 L E RN -2 F
+tFEZMBBRERPETDEAFE
e

BZ I B L2 5 T R B
Wﬁaﬁiﬁﬂﬂﬂﬁkﬁ’ﬁﬁ
BB DRI RAH - itk 5
—EENFET-AS+—A Rit

MEBARZEETBDBRFIEL
o
ENDERFFEHEZEE

Eﬂﬂﬁ%ﬁﬁi&ﬁﬁ%ﬁﬂ”z%ﬁi'ﬁ
SEER-_ZETELF 2B RES
# & T Scaniaz W% ~ R /E K& B
NRTFEEFHDHEAFIEHEZE
=

2008 2007
—EENFE ZEREF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FERT FAET

Property, plant and equipment held {F{ERE 2 BE L& H
for sale - 1,937
Inventories held for sale RIELEZRFE = 4,355
- 6,292

These assets were disposed of to Scania during the year.

FOREFRONT GROUP LIMITED # A &£BEHER A
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10.

LOSS ATTRIBUTABLE TO EQUITY HOLDERS OF
THE PARENT

The loss attributable to equity holders of the parent
includes a loss of approximately HK$244,028,000 (2007:
HK$364,058,000) which has been dealt with in the financial
statements of the Company.

LOSS PER SHARE
Weighted average number of shares

The calculation of basic loss per share is based on the
weighted average number of ordinary shares of 840,089,000
shares (2007 (restated): 314,572,000 shares) in issue during
the year.

The weighted average number of ordinary shares adopted
in the calculation of the basic loss per share for the years
of 2008 and 2007 has been adjusted to reflect the impact
of the rights issues effected in January 2008 and the capital
reorganisation effected in October 2008.

From continuing operations

The calculation of the basic loss per share from continuing
operations attributable to shareholders is based on the loss
for the year from continuing operations of HK$265,660,000
(2007 (restated): HK$323,783,000) and the denominators
detailed above in respect of weighted average number of
shares.

From discontinued operations

Basic loss per share for the discontinued operations was
HK$1.03 cents (2007: HK$2.99 cents) per share based on
the loss for the year from the discontinued operations of
HK$8,642,000 (2007 (restated): HK$9,404,000) and the
denominators detailed above in respect of weighted average
number of shares.

Diluted loss per share

No diluted loss per share is presented for years of 2008 and
2007 as the effect of all potential ordinary shares held at the
balance sheet date is anti-dilutive.

9.

10.

BRAAREFEAREER

BRARRERFRBEAEBGLEEERED
244,028,0008 L (ZFEE L F -
364,058,000/ 7C) 2 G1E - BHEIED
MARBIE MK FEIE -

BRESE

InRE 359 B &

5 RE LKJEH%TJEEWE%M?
840,089,000k (= EEF L F (EJ5) -
374572000/]x)jt A% A0 ¥ 39 Rt

go

%ﬁ:?f/\i)&_?%tiﬁﬁgm
Eﬁ?ﬁﬁﬁ%ﬁﬁz BRI BED
B UARMR-_ZZENFE—A EAIZT,\
BRER-_ZEENF+ALEMZERNER
B

REBECEEL
BREEBEREFELEEB 2TRE
AEBOIRBERELCEEBR Z2FRE
$8265,660,0008 T (= EZELF (&
%) :323,783,000;% 7T ) & £ X P Ef it
ZINEFHREBEE -

RECKRIEREER

ERIEEEXEBR 2 ERELAERAE
B&1.038 0 (= FEFLF :2.998)) -
DRBEERELEEB 2FANEIE
8,642,000 L (= FEFLF (E5) -
9,404,000/ 7T ) K & A FF il 2 g
BB AT E

SREBESE
BREEEHRBEZMEEE L BRA
REETE HITEEIN T N\FR
TEELFEREEEE-

ANNUAL REPORT 2008 —ZZN\FF &

73



Notes to the Financial Statements

81 15 ¥ & Y =

11. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES 1M1. REWME
2008 2007
—EENFE ZERF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FERT FHET
Carrying amount R H B
At beginning of year REH] 30,065 -
Additions during the year FANRE - 30,234
Depreciation e (134) (169)
Disposal of subsidiaries &M E AR (29,931) -
At balance sheet date NEEER - 30,065
Cost (DN - 30,234
Accumulated depreciation and ZF T ERBEEE
impairment losses - (169)
- 30,065
Fair value NFEE - 35,000
The Company's investment properties were situated at KRB ZREMEMRESILAFTEE
Rm.2201-3 and Rm.2205-9, 22/F, China United Centre, 285RFEE b (2218220183 K& 22052
28 Marble Road, North Point, Hong Kong and held under IE -URAAHEERE -R_ZEZNFNH
long term leases. In April 2008, the Group disposed of its A AEBEEHEERBELAKRED
interest in the subsidiary which held the foregoing investment E 1) NG 3l
properties.
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12. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 1N2.VE- - BERKE
Furniture
Leasehold and Motor
improvements equipment vehicles Total
HENEEE BARRE "B @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FTiET FTiER FTiER TET
At beginning of year 2007 RZZEZLET] 2,555 579 390 3,524
Additions NE 453 843 613 1,909
Disposals HE - - M M
Reclassified as assets held for sale BH HEAZEHLELE (1,106) (662) (169) (1,937)
Reclassified as interest in a ENDEARBELENE
subsidiary held for sale NI i - (60) (113) (173)
Depreciation charged for the year  FRITE S H (1,615) (316) 217) (2,148)
Translation adjustments ERAE 1 1 11 13
288 385 514 1,187
At 31 December 2007 RZEETLE
+-HA=1—"H
Cost B R 781 1,831 1,160 3,772
Accumulated depreciation 2imE (493) (1,446) (646) (2,585)
288 385 514 1,187
At beginning of year 2008 RZEZENEFT] 288 385 514 1,187
Additions NE 1,245 489 1,891 3,625
Disposals e (222) (11 (200) (433)
Reclassified from assets held for ~ {IFELEEEEN DB
sale - 114 118 232
Reclassified as assets held for sale BH D EAZEHELE - (202) - (202)
Depreciation charged for the year FRMESL H (1,180) (234) (677) (2,091)
Disposal of a subsidiary HE—FREAR - (2) = ()
131 539 1,646 2,316
At 31 December 2008 R-ZZENEF
+-R=+-H
Cost B 7R 1,247 1,411 2,371 5,029
Accumulated depreciation 2imE (1,116) (872) (725) (2,713)
131 539 1,646 2,316
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13. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES 13. REE RN 2R
The interests of the Group in the associates is set out below: REBPBE R 2 EREHINMAT
As at 31 December 2008 As at 31 December 2007
Tianjin T|anj|n

Golden Fame Kai Sheng Total  Golden Fame Kai Sheng Total
&  RETHB @t & REMIE Bt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK'000 HK'000 HK'000 HK$'000
TR TER TR FHL TEL T
Share of net assets MEEEEE 33,521 3,697 37,218 32,754 - 32,754

Details of the associates at the balance sheet date are as

follows:

REEEAZBEARREMT:

Proportion of

Principal registered
place of capital and
operation/ voting power
Form of Place of held by
Name of associates business incorporation the Group Principal activities
rEE TR
TEEERY EXRREE
BENRARB EBEN o B 3 it B Fir 4k b 451 TEXEK
Tianjin Kai Sheng Automobile Incorporate PRC 50% Provision of repair service
Service Co. Limited for automobile and
("Tianjin Kai Sheng”) distribution of
Nissan motor vehicles
REDINBIEREERAR  EE & RERERERSE R
([RETHE]) DEBEARE
Golden Fame International Incorporate Hong Kong 40% Logistic business
Investments Group Limited
("Golden Fame”)
EERRESEERLA % R Ve

(T&fE])
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13. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (Continued) 13. Wﬂ% DA R (E)
Summary of financial information of associates are as follows: EBMERFI U BERRENT
Golden Fame Tianjin Kai Sheng Total
& KEHHE @it
2008 2007 2008 2007 2008 2007
ZBEEN\E C—TTLF ZEBENE C-TTtF ZEENE C-TTtF
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR FEL FHR TiEn T#n T
Share of associates' assets AMEBENREERER
and liabilities
Non-current assets FRBEE 28,045 23,028 21,841 6,379 49,886 29,407
Current assets RHEE 94,193 78,450 33,110 37,212 127,303 115,662
Non-current liabilities FRBARE (62,058) (11,489) - - (62,058) (11,489)
Current liabilities mEHaE (20,551) (50,917) (48,120) (44,042) (68,671) (94,959)
Minority interest LHREER (6.108) (6,318) (3,134) (4,005) (9.,242) (10,323)
Share of associates’ revenue and MEBE D ARERRT
profit
Revenue Wi 224,362 39,779 154,714 17,301 379,076 57,080
Profit (Loss) w7 (E8) 767 1,860 3,697 (229) 4,464 1,631

Tianjin Kai Sheng had net liabilities at the date of acquisition
and goodwill amounted to HK$20,000,000 has been
recognised. The Group has not recognised the losses of
HK$229,000 in Tianjin Kai Sheng and its subsidiaries in year
2007 since the group’s share of losses of the associates has
exceed the Group's interest in these associates.

During the year, the Group assessed the recoverable amount
of goodwill and determined that goodwill associated with
the Group’s interest in Tianjin Kai Sheng was impaired by
HK$8,000,000 (2007: HK$12,000,000).

Under clause 5 of the acquisition agreement of Golden Fame,
the guarantor, who is the 40% equity owner in Golden
Fame, has guaranteed in the event that Golden Fame's yearly
profits before tax for the two years period from 1 January
2008 to 31 December 2009 falls below HK$12,000,000,
he will compensate the shortfall to Golden Fame which will
eventually increase the Group’s share of Golden Fame's net
assets.

RIEHB R EmBREEEFEE
& It B #E 52 7 2£20,000,00058 7T ° B
AEBHOEBERREBEBEAERR
%%%%QTZ%*”W$%HIHﬁ
REEMIBLENBRARTN _ZEE+
& 7 E518229,00058 7T °

FAN-AEEEFEEEZAIKESE -
WETHEASERRETINE 2 548
B 2 2 B IR(ES,000,000/ 0 ( ZFF
+4F £ 12,000,000/ 7T )

BEEERERZEFESR BERA(RS
1éo%%%2%ﬁA>E¢mFﬁvﬁ
SERZEEN\F-—HA—AREZ

h¢+fﬂ:+—5¢ﬁm¢gﬁﬁz
& F B %A1 m FME 712,000,000 7T
ERASRNESEMETRE 28 WEK
BERENAEBD G2 EEEFE
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14. GOODWILL 14. BHE
As at 31 December 2008 As at 31 December 2007
R=2B\F¥+=B=t-H RZEZLFF-A=T—H
Tianjin Natural Tianjin Natural
Kai Sheng Harvest Total Kai Sheng Harvest Total
RETIE BA @ REmiE BR @it
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET TAT TEL THL FEL THL
Carrying value REE
Acquisition of subsidiary  WEHBRE/
associates BEnd 20,000 55,000 75,000 20,000 55,000 75,000
Less: Impairment loss A OREEE (20,000) (55,000) (75,000) (12,000) (55,000) (67,000)
At balance sheet date REER = = = 8,000 - 8,000
(Note 14(b)) (Note 15(a))
(B&E14b))  (KHE150)
Notes: B3 -
(a)  Goodwill is related to the Group’s acquisition of Tianjin Kai Sheng (a) MWEEAEBWERETIBTEREER

Automobile Service Company Limited and Natural Harvest Investment
Limited.

The recoverable amounts of the cash generating units containing goodwill
have been determined based on a value in use calculation. The value in
use is calculated based on discounted cash flow projections, which are
prepared on the basis of financial budgets approved by management
covering a 5-year period and a discount rate of 10% per annum.

By reference to the cash flow projection, management considered
the carrying amount of goodwill of HK$8,000,000 arisen from the
acquisition of Tianjin Kai Sheng would not generate future economic
benefit to the Group. A further impairment loss of HK$8,000,000 (2007:
HK$12,000,000) has been recognised.

FOREFRONT GROUP LIMITED # A & BEER A 7

=
REARBEAREERATDER-

ZEReEEBM A NESRE (RERE)
R ABENEEETE - ERBEREIE
ReneBAHE BREEAAEEEIEL
AFMBEERFTEETF10%RmE -

2BRBEREFN BEERSBYEREZT
HLB i A4 2 P8 2 1R TE 188,000,000/ ;T
EAAEEERAREENZ HEE—F
T 52050 18 /85 188,000,000 7T (=BT A4 ¢
12,000,000 7T ) °
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15. AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE FINANCIAL ASSETS

15. It HENKEE

The Group The Company
x5H NS
2008 2007 2008 2007
—ZENF ZETLF —EENE ZETLF
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET AT TET FHT
At cost less impairment loss BRAREREERR
Unlisted equity interest in Taiwan, R & &2 3 EmRAES
at cost BRA 6,908 6,908 6,908 6,908
Unlisted equity interest REBZELTRARR
in Hong Kong at cost (note15(a) &M A (Fi515()) 25,000 25,000 - -
Impairment loss recognised ERARERSE (31,908) (31,908) (6,908) (6,908)
The unlisted investments represented long-term investments in FEMBEENILAERETZIELT
unlisted equity securities issued by private entities. RAFH 2 REIRE -
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15. AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE FINANCIAL ASSETS
(Continued)

15. i HEMBEE (&)

(a) Acquisition of interest in a Sino-foreign equity joint

venture

Reference is made to the annual report of year 2007.
The Group acquired the entire share capital of Natural
Harvest Investments Limited, which holds 61.25% in
Talenteam Development Limited (“Talenteam”) and on
completion of the transaction, Talenteam holds 80%
in China Railway Information and Technology Limited
(collectively referred to as the “China Railway” or
“Project”). Upon the completion of this acquisition, the
Group’s effective interest in China Railway would be
49%. However, these entities were treated as subsidiaries
of the Company as the Company had control over the
board composition of them.

The consideration was HK$80,000,000 which had
been fully paid on 7 September 2007. The registered
capital of China Railway is HK$200,000,000 of which
HK$50,000,000 had been paid up. Under a joint
venture agreement, Talenteam was committed to
pay an additional capital contribution requirement of
HK$150,000,000.

Since the Group's effective interest in China Railway is
49%, the equity interest attributable to the Group was
approximately HK$25 million. Upon acquisition, the
excess of HK$55,000,000 representing the excess of the
HK$80,000,000 consideration paid over the Group's
HK$25,000,000 share of the interest in China Railway
and was recognised as goodwill.

In November 2007, Management considered they had
lost control over these entities and the Project was
suspended.

FOREFRONT GROUP LIMITED # A &£BEHER A

(a) WEHIEELX ZER

EFEL2H T LEFHR-AEE
WERARAEEBR AT EIHARA -
BAREERAFTNFEERERS
lRAR ([EX])61.25% s M
NRBKE BRFBEEERBE
HMEMAERAR (5 #RAE] %
[ZER ) Z280% 2 - 2 X I
TR R AEERERA BN E
WIEBA% AT AR AR A
BZEMBAREESMEK 2T
B MZEEREESARNARZH
BRa]e

R {€80,000,0008 LEN _EZ+
FNAELABEZ T -BRME 2T
fit & A A200,000,000/%& jt * H &
50,000,000 LE R E - BIEE &
e BRAGEINEEZEIN
&150,000,000/8 7T

BRAEEEBEREZ49%E
B AEBEHERIERLD
#25,000,0007 T - Wi 1% - B 1
X {280,000,0007% 7T 8 A & E FE (S
% 48 2 #E 2525,000,0007% JT i
55,000,000 T B2 RECER

R-FTLF+—H BEEERR
ERRAHHEERZIZE M
ZEBNCDEE-
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15. AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE FINANCIAL ASSETS 15. IR HERKBEE (&)

(Continued)

(a) Acquisition of interest in a Sino-foreign equity joint

(a) WEBHIIEELX 2R (&)

venture (Continued)

Management considered the goodwill of HK$55,000,000
as mentioned above would not generate future economic
benefit to the Group. A full impairment loss had been
recognised immediately, leaving a net carrying amount of
HK$25,000,000 of interest in China Railway.

According to HKAS 27, a parent loses control when it
lost the power to govern the financial and operating
policies of an investee so as to obtain benefit from its
activities. The lost of control can occur with or without a
change in absolute or relative ownership in an investee.
Management considered the lost of control occurred in
November 2007 and therefore the remaining interest in
China Railway of HK$25,000,000 had been reclassified
as available for sale financial instrument under HKFRS 39
subject to impairment review. Management considered
the chance of recovering the Project as remote and had
made a further impairment loss of HK$25,000,000 in
2007 against the remaining interest in China Railway.

The PRC investment partner has submitted an arbitration
proceedings in PRC against the Talenteam demanding the
remaining HK$150,000,000 additional capital injection as
mentioned above plus related interests of RMB2,250,000
and pecuniary loss of HK$150,000,000 resulted from
the suspension of the ticketing project. Management
has filed a defence to deny against the claim and on 25
June 2008, the PRC investment partner has submitted
an application to the China International Economic
and Trade Arbitration Commission (the “Arbitration
Commission”) to withdraw the claim. Talenteam
received notification dated 4 July 2008 from the
Arbitration Commission regarding the withdrawal of such
arbitration proceedings from the PRC investment partner.
According to PRC legal opinion, the Group would no
longer be liable to any additional capital injection to the
Project.

EFR A L E55,000,000% 7T
g AR E B RAR KL EF
wm HMENKERE2EREEIE"
EHPRER@AzER 2R FE
25,000,000 7T ©

REBESSERNE275 QA
—BEXETWREHUEREE
BMEZENDNBE HEFRERF
a5 B R 38 R R o 3B AR
A MAle ~TeBERHRE
FZBENAHEE S B2
BERAER-_ZETLF+—ABE®E
K MR E R T ER
25,000,000/ ;e B AR & 78 B 75 3
HREAEIREF DB AATHELE
PHBIE ATRABE- EEE
REBWEZBEE ZHEEN BB
RZETLFHEARB 2B T EE
#— 2P 1R R B 5 1825,000,000/%8
5% o

FHEEEHERPEREXE
HPERF  EKEHER LMEINNE
& 7 $%8150,000,000/8 7T 0 3= 0
fEREF B AR #2,250,0007T & A
EFEEEFEMIIBMIEBRXE
150,000,000 - EIREE B F 4
HRRELERERSH MRZZ
TZNENAZ+THA FHEREE
HrPEBEBREEESTEEZEE
(MMRZEES ) REABUARER
B BRWINMBEZEGR-EZ
NFELAMBEL Z@BM ERA
WERHEREZMPHIET - RIE
FEEEER AEEBFEEEM
ZIEHELEINEE o
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16. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH

16. RERREBELAFEERE MK

PROFIT OR LOSS BE
2008 2007
—EENE ZTTLF
HK$'000 HK$'000
TERT FET
Held for trading BIEEE
Equity securities listed in Hong Kong BB LTRARE 5 98,748 209,975

The fair value of listed equity securities is based on quoted

market prices in active markets at the balance sheet date.

17. INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES

FTRAEBERZATFEDREBEEEBRE
ABRTIERz mERE

17. RMB ARl 2 &

2008 2007
—EENE —EELF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FExT FAET
Unlisted shares, at cost JE LMD - A - -
Amounts due from subsidiaries & Y B B A B FR A 958,310 952,381
958,310 952,381

Less: Provision for amounts due from JE : FEASRY B ~ RIS IR
subsidiaries (745,848) (510,925)
212,462 441,456

The amounts due from subsidiaries are unsecured, non-

interest bearing and have no fixed repayment term.

FOREFRONT GROUP LIMITED # A &£BEHER A
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17. INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

Details of the Company’s principal subsidiaries at 31

December 2008 were as follows:

Place of

incorporation/

Issued and
fully paid
share capital/

Percentage of

equity interest held

17. RMB AR 2 s (&)
AATEEMBRAAR-TENF+=
A=+—-Bz#EmT:

Name of subsidiary operation registered capital by the Company Principal activities
ERITRARE
WELAREE HBAYL EEhY BE/EMEER  RAAFMBEREIEEZEIL FEEH
Directly Indirectly
EE &

Continuing operations

FESEER

Crown Creation Limited British Virgin Islands US$1 - 100%  Investment holding
KBRS (E REZKR

Cybergear Limited British Virgin Islands Us$1 - 100%  Investment holding
AERTES (e REZKR

Forefront Finance Co Limited Hong Kong HK$2,000,000 - 100%  Licensed money-lending

BHMBERLNA B 2,000,000/ 7 FERE

Great Journey Limited British Virgin Islands us$1 - 100%  Investment holding
RERTES (e REZKR

Leapfly Limited British Virgin Islands US$1 - 100%  Investment holding
KBRS (E REZKR

Loyal Fine Limited British Virgin Islands us$1 100% - Investment holding
AERTES (e REZKR

Merrier Limited British Virgin Islands US$1 - 100%  Investment holding
KBRS (E REZKR

Natural Harvest Investments Limited British Virgin Islands Us$1 - 100%  Investment holding

BAREBRAF RERTES (e REZKR
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17. INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

Place of
incorporation/

Issued and
fully paid
share capital/

Percentage of

equity interest held

17. R B AR 2 s (&)

Name of subsidiary operation registered capital by the Company Principal activities
BRTRAR
WEARAE BMAL BELH BA/EMERX ARARFBRABZEIL FEEK
Directly Indirectly
E# &
Continuing operations (Continued)
HREEER (4)
Ready Capital Limited British Virgin Islands US$1 - 100%  Investment holding
ARERES (E REZKR
Sino Wealthy Limited British Virgin Islands US$1 - 100%  Trading of securities
RERAES (E EFHEE
Smart Oriental Limited British Virgin Islands Us$1 - 100%  Investment holding
ARERES (E REZKR
Suntrend China Limited Hong Kong HK$1 - 100%  Investment holding
MiaREERAR EE BT RERKR
Talenteam Development Limited British Virgin Islands US$10,000 - 61.25%  Investment holding
ERERERDA EERAES 10,0003 7T BAER
Discontinued operation
BRIEEEER
Allen Motor Co, Limited Hong Kong HK$2 - 100%  Provision of agency
services for insurance
and financing of
motor vehicles
BRETERAF B 2B RESERRIBER

FOREFRONT GROUP LIMITED # A &£BEHER A
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17. INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

Place of
incorporation/

Issued and
fully paid
share capital/

Percentage of
equity interest held

17. R B AR 2 s (&)

Name of subsidiary operation registered capital by the Company Principal activities
BRTRAR
WEARAE BMAL BELH BA/EMERX ARARFBRABZEIL FEEK
Directly Indirectly
E# &
Discontinued operation (Continued)
BRLEGEEY (4)
Forefront Automotive Services Hong Kong HK$20 - 100%  Trading of motor vehicle
Company Limited accessories and
provision of motor
vehicle repairs and
maintenance
BHRERBERAR 0 2087 RETRME HREHS
ABEBRERE
Forefront International (Hong Kong) Hong Kong HK$100,000 - 100%  Trading of motor trucks
Limited Ordinary share and coaches
HK$6,000,000
Non-voting
deferred shares (i)
"5 (BR)ERAF 3 100,000/ 7T EERKBETES
6,000,000/ 7T
BERRE
BB ()
BHAERSE ORI ERAF Mainland China HK$3,500,000(ii) - 100%  Trading of motor Trucks,

REAM

3,500,0007% 7t (ji)

coaches and vehicle
Accessories

8 KEELR
AETENES
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17. INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (Continued) 17.

Notes:

(i) Holders of deferred shares have no rights to vote at general meetings or
receive any dividend. Upon winding up, they are entitled to one half of
the balance of the company’s assets after HK$100,000,000,000 has been

distributed to holders of ordinary shares.

None of the subsidiaries had any loan capital in issue at any
time during the year ended 31 December 2008.

17(a) The amounts due to subsidiaries are unsecured, non-
interest bearing and have no fixed repayment term.

RMBRR 2R (&)

B EE -

(i) EEBRNZHEABBERRAGLRE I
EREBDERRE - EBRE  ZAREET
100,000,000,0007% 7T % & £ AR DIk T & B
B2HAAN MBEZ —FRELERDZFHE
AFH-

EWBRARRBE_ZZENF+ A
=+ —RIEFERERMEEHLEERME
BITIEHEEAR

7a) ENMEBEARREREER 28
N BB E R

18. INVENTORIES 18. &
The Group
rEE

2008 2007
—EEN\E —ERLF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FEx FAET
Motor trucks and coaches éﬁ&ﬁﬁ?ﬁlﬂji 7,175 32,833
Vehicle accessories RE AR 123 4,241
7,298 37,074

Less: Provision for obsolete and O BREREIEGT EEE
slow-moving inventories (516) (4,449)
6,782 32,625

FOREFRONT GROUP LIMITED # A &£BEHER A
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19. LOAN RECEIVABLES

Loans granted to borrowers are repayable according to
repayment schedules. The balance comprises loans receivable

19. ERER

ERARR 2 ERARBERFRKRE
BE-BREREERETIE T 2EK

from: =&
2008 2007
—EEN\HF —EELF
Note HK$'000 HK$'000
B 2t TH& T FETT
Third parties E=7 (a) 79,969 -
Allowance for doubtful debts RIRE (b) (44,240) -
Balances due within one year EEARBEE R —FA
included in current assets EIHf 7 Ak 35,729 -
Notes: Mk -
(a) At the balance sheet date, loan receivables (1) carry effective interest (@) REEH BURERMNMWZEBRIENTS

rates ranging from 2% per month to prime rate plus 4% per annum

(2007: from prime rate to prime rate plus 4% per annum); (2) include

balance of HK$31,583,000 which is overdue and secured by a legal

charge over properties and share charges (note c); (3) include loan

balance of HK$1,525,000 which is overdue; (4) include loan balances of
HK$46,861,000 which are within the respective maturity dates (2007:
none); (5) include loan balances of HK$30,707,000 which are secured by
the borrowers' net interests in their account maintained with a securities
broker (2007: none); and (6) include loan balances of HK$17,678,000
which are not secured by any collaterals (2007: None).

EEGREEMNENFENRIE (ZFE+
F ) FREFBFIE R EBEFENFFIE4
JE) i (2)B 1E 45 $431,583,000% 7T+ T Hi &
-4 30 AP 3 2 0K TE 3R RS KR R 10 #R R MR R AR
(M &Ec) « Q)R HEE M A5 #:1,525,0007% 7T -
T EI R AT (4) B 4% B 34k £446,861,000/8
T BZEREA (ZFEELE ) (5)RE
B AE8230,707,0008 70« A RA B HKL
RIRFNFERERR (ZFELF - #)
K (6)BIEEF4E#217,678,000/8 7T + I % LA
MERRERR(ZFELF - #) -
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19. LOAN RECEIVABLES (Continued)

(b)

(c)

The directors assessed the collectability of loans receivable at the balance
sheet date individually with reference to borrowers’
history and current creditworthiness. An amount of HK$44,240,000
(2007: Nil) in respect of five loans was determined to be impaired

past collection

as a result of the assessment. In the directors’ opinion, there was no
indication of deterioration in the collectability of the remaining amount
of HK$35,729,000 and thus no additional allowance was considered

necessary.

During the year, the Group made a loan of HK$27,500,000 to a third
party (“the Borrower"). The loan is secured by (i) guarantee from the
Chairman of The Borrower; (i) charges on all issued shares capital of
two subsidiaries of the Borrower; and (iii) first legal charge on properties
indirectly owned by the Borrower.

At the time entering into the foregoing loan agreement, the Group also
entered into a participation agreement with another third party (the
“Participant”) to accept the Participant in participating in such loan to
the extent of HK$7,500,000 and received HK$7,500,000 remitted from
the Participant, which has been recorded as other payable. Pursuant to
the participation agreement, in the event of the default of the Borrower,
the Participant will entitle to 27.27% of the right to (i) the accrued loan
interest; and (ii) the proceeds from realisation of the properties under

legal charges.

In September 2008, the Borrower defaulted the loan repayment. Pursuant
to the loan agreement, the legal title of the shares of a subsidiary of the
Borrower has been transferred to one of the Group's subsidiaries in order
to enforce the legal charge on properties mentioned above, without the
intention to control this subsidiary.

The Group has taken legal action for recovering the loan. Pursuant to
the Court Order dated 3 March 2009, the Borrower is required to deliver
up to the Group the vacant procession of the properties comprised the
legal charge. In assessing the fair value of the properties, the directors
have made reference to a valuation report issued by an independent
valuer, which estimates the value of the properties under repossession
to be HK$17,000,000. Pursuant to the participation agreement with
the Participant, upon realisation of the properties, the Participant will
entitle to 27.27% of the distribution of the proceeds. After deducting
the HK$7,500,000 received from the Participant as well as the legal
costs payable to the receiver, the directors estimate that there would be
a shortfall of HK$8,000,000 which has been fully provided against the
Loan receivables in the financial statements. The Group has made full
provision against the interests of HK$5,600,000 accrued on the said loan.

FOREFRONT GROUP LIMITED # A &£BEHER A

19. EWWE R (£Z)

(b)

EENEEALRBERABLEZERLEE LT
Bz EARE @R b E R e R E R
REHEE - — W RABEE K2 44,240,00058
THRIERETAKERE (ZTELF #) -
EERA PR B R UE 42 5635,729,000
VT B RE - AR VR RN

FN-AEBR—BE=H ([ERADED
—%27,500,000 7L 2 B3R - 2 EERUAOE
FAZ EBREZER: (VB BEERANE
MEARZIMEBRITRAZ AR Kii)EH

EBERABEREZMEZE X TERLIE

%Mizuéﬂh AEEFHES—F

J)nTi%gﬁiWJui BEX2H

P £ %7,500,000/8 T
$%IEI&H&/,J§E)\Z7 500,000/% JT *
WEAZREAEMENKE RIESHER
%%h%?x/\%fﬁ SEFTBERZHE()ERT
ESA R &Il""‘ﬁ&;ﬁ?%ﬂﬁﬁﬁ&%%ZFﬁ
’E'$ T 227.27% °©

REZFBNFENR  ERARMERERE -
REER DS AREEF B A RES
EERA—BHRBRRABRG EERBRE D/(
SEHITT DAY R ZOATE RS M IRE B S
ZHE AR

AEEE R EEREBERITE - R IR A HA
BRITTNFZAZBZES ERAEAAR

EREEAERLTOEZEER -EENT
EMEZAFERECLEB I GEMEL 2
BERS MZEEMGETEERZDEZ
&{E/417,000,000/8 7T - ARIREA L B FF] 7 2
LHEWpH SHEAARYELBERZEHME
IR 227.27% 5 & o AINBR B 2 85 W 2
7,500,000 7T I & 15 BF EE B A 2 7R A AR
1% - EHH5HE 188,000,000/ TESE - B
TRZHBENRUMBRENZ BKRERIEL 2
HEE  AEEDHMZEHKES 25,600,000
B EEL 2 HBE -
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20. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

20. B E 5 ik 7R H Al R WK TR

The Group The Company
Fig-c] ARF
2008 2007 2008 2007
—EENE ZETLF —EENE ZEELF
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET FAEL TET AT
Trade receivables (note a) EBWE SR (Fita) 12 9,460 = -
Other receivables HibEWE
Deposits, prepayments and e BNFER
other debtors H At e U B 3R 8,763 10,017 8 36
Due from an associate (note b) JE U —Fel B & A B 30UR
GEDY 5,290 - - -
Deposit paid on a proposed REBREINZES
investment (note c) (FisEc) 9,776 - - -
23,841 19,477 8 36
(a) The Group grants to its customers credit terms ranging (a) AEBEBTFTEFZEERNTF—=
from 1 to 3 months. The ageing analysis of the trade ZEATE-BEESRINEE
receivables at the balance sheet date is as follows: B2z T :
The Group
2008 2007
—EEN\F —EELF
HK$'000 HK$'000
THE T FAETT
0 to under 3 months TETHBBA=EA = 9,190
3 to under 6 months —EAETHBIB/NEA = 268
6 to under 9 months NE A EAEEELE A - 104
9 to under 12 months NEAZETEBE+ @A 13 -
Over 12 months Bl —EA 5,072 5,453
5,085 15,015
Less: Allowance on bad and J RIZIR B
doubtful debts (5,073) (5,555)
12 9,460
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20. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (Continued) 20. EWE SRR H ith FEUW FRIE
(#%&)
(a) (Continued) (a) (#&)
Movement for provision for bad and doubtful debts is RIZBIRBE 2 LB WOT
listed below:
2008 2007
—EENE —ETLF
HK$'000 HK$'000
TERT FET
At beginning of year 2008 RZZEZENFY] 5,555 5,732
Impairment loss recognised EmRZAEERE 45 -
Reversal of impairment loss RO A ERER 2 REER
previously recognised (194) (177)
Disposal of a subsidiary HE—FHRER R (333) -
As at 31 December 2008 RZZBZENF+-_A=1t—H 5,073 5,555
The analysis of trade receivables that were past due but %0 HA SR B SR E < R IE IR X
not impaired is as follows: DT
2008 2007
—EENF —ETLF
HK$'000 HK$'000
TERT FET
Neither past due nor impaired K Bf I R R E - 8,223
Past due but not impaired B HA R B JORUE
1-90 days 1290k - 1,136
91-180 days 91£180K - 55
181-360 days 181E360K 12 46
12 9,460
The Group's neither past due nor impaired trade REBRBPTARBEZEKES
receivables represent sales made to recognised and R REEMEERRT 2 EPE
creditworthy customers. TZHEE-

90 FOREFRONT GROUP LIMITED EAF &M@ ER A 7
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20. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (Continued)

(b) The amount due from an associate is unsecured, bearing

(c)

interest at prime rate plus 2% per annum and repayable
in 2010. During the year, the Group has received interest
income in respect of the amount due amounting to
HK$290,000 (2007: HK$Nil).

Deposit paid on a proposed investment

On 26 August 2008, the Group entered into
a subscription agreement (the “Subscription
Agreement”) with Excel Way Investments Limited
("Excel Way") and Mr. Yeung Ming Kwong (“Mr.
Yeung"), the director of the Company. Pursuant to the
subscription agreement, Excel Way agreed to allot and
issue and the Group agreed to subscribe the subscription
shares, representing 51% of the enlarged issued share
capital of Excel Way. Excel Way is wholly-owned by
Shinning Global Worldwide Limited, which in turn is held
as to 51% by Mr. Yeung.

Excel Way has entered into joint venture agreement with
a PRC investment partner and under the agreement,
Excel Way holds 42.86% of the register capital of
a PRC JV, Tinhua Excel Way Special Fiber (Xintai)
Company Limited (“Tinhua"). Under the joint venture
agreement, the PRC investment partner has contributed
US$10,000,000 by way of machinery and held 57.14%
of the registered capital of Tianhua. Excel Way is
required to make capital contribution of US$7,500,000
in cash. Tinhua's registered capital will be increased to
US$24,000,000 through additional cash contribution by
Excel Way and the PRC investment partner. The capital
contribution to be made by Excel Way is therefore
increased proportionately to US$10,286,000. On 28
August 2008, Excel Way injected US$1,150,000 as
capital contribution.

20. BN B 5 R 7k & H fth FE W FE
(&)
(b) FEUL —FEE 4 A B IE B m K

(c)

REEEFEMERNK2EF L I
BRZZE—SFEE-FAN A5HE
St JHE U 5% 78 W B A1 B A 290,000
BIL(ZELELF )

REBREXIFzES
RZZEZENFNAZ+B K&
R REARAR (DEE]) &
RARREEGRIEE ([BEE])
I REE T E ([FRBWmE]) - R
REME SRR B RETM
AEBRERERERD BER
S ERE BITRA 251%) °
& L F Shinning Global Worldwide
Limited® E# A - MShinning
Global Worldwide Limited s %5 4t 4
A5 %ES -

mEEPFREREHITBEEAE D
HEOMBEZBE RESET
AERELERETHSBEMSE (7
R)BBRAF ([XE]) 42.86%
MER-RIBZEEHE PR
BRHEUREHEZFALEE
10,000,000 Jt * I £ B K 1 i
BEARZ57.14% - B AL ER &
7,500,000% 7T « iE B R R TR E
BHUReEIINEER REZF
fit & 725 #& 12 hn 224,000,000 7T
s a2 & BB iR b g pn =
10,286,000 T R Z T T )\ FE N\
A=+ B &EE/x&1,150,000
ETe
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20. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (Continued)

(c) Deposit paid on a proposed investment (Continued)

Upon signing of the subscription agreement, the
Group paid a deposit of HK$9,776,000 (equivalent to
US$1,250,000) for subscribing the shares in Excel Way.
The amount was classified as a deposit paid on the
proposed investment.

Pursuant to the acquisition agreement, the original
completion of the acquisition should not be later than
27 February 2009 and if so, under the memorandum
of association of Tinhua, the second capital injection of
US$6,350,000 should be injected by February 2009.

Up to the date of the authorisation of these financial
statements, the acquisition is not yet completed.
Excel Way has submitted an application to Taian
Administration for Industry and Commerce to apply for
an extension on the deadline of capital injection. The
application was approved and the deadline is extended
to end of April 2009.

21. PLEDGED DEPOSITS

As at 31 December 2008, the Group and the Company
deposited approximately HK$1,567,000 (2007: HK$558,000)
as collateral to satisfy contingent warranty and delivery
obligations in relation to certain sales contracts.

FOREFRONT GROUP LIMITED # A &£BEHER A

20. EWE 5tk A H it FE W FR 18
(%)

(c)

REBREXNZRE (&)
REFTREBEHZE AEEBE X
1% 49,776,000 T (MEHR
1,250,0003 7T ) R & Bl < I 1n
FHESHEEEIEATERREX
HziEe-

BEZKEHBE WHREERE
RZETZNF A+ tHARE
B BB B IR NS A IR K
EHBERARAE E_£E2
6,350,000 TTER =TT NF=A
BIEA

BENSMHHmARETZEES
WREEHRTK GHERRER
MIETRERBRRBHATE
TERY - BRFFCDELAE MR
HOEEE _ZTTNFMOAK-

21. BIEHEER

R-ZBENF+_A=1+—H A&H

&le ATFEA491,567,0008 70 (ZEZF
+F 5580005 )ERMEBBAET

HES
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an °
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22. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 2. ENHESRRAREMENSRE
The Group The Company
rEE b NG|
2008 2007 2008 2007
—EZN\f “TTLF —EENE “TTLF
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET FAL TET AT
Trade payables EFEZIER 530 12,066 = -
Other payables Hit B F0R
Accrued charges and FERHE P I H o JE A R 5K
other creditors 17,276 7,166 2,185 1,326
17,806 19,232 2,185 1,326
The ageing analysis of the trade payables at the balance sheet ERESRFNEE R ZREK DT
date is as follows: T
The Group
REE
2008 2007
—EENE —EELF
HK$'000 HK$'000
TH& T FAET
0 to under 3 months TE HBB=(AH 312 10,772
3 to under 6 months —EAETHBIB/NEA 54 1,043
6 to under 9 months NEAETEBBAEA - 5
9 to under 12 months NEARETBBE+ A 5 -
Over 12 months B8+ =EA 159 246
530 12,066
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23. INTEREST-BEARING BORROWINGS

23. ;tEEE

2008 2007
—EENF ZERF
HK$'000 HK$'000
TERT THETT
Loans 8%
Secured bank loans EERRITER - 14,885
Unsecured other loans mIEREMER 27,274 -
27,274 14,885
2008 2007
—EENF —EELF
HK$'000 HK$'000
TERT FHT
The maturity of the bank and other RITREMIEE 2 2 H
borrowings is as follows: BERAT
On demand or within a period not EZER N BB —FHHERA
exceeding one year 27,274 -
Within a period of more than one year M—F A BT BBEMRE
but not exceeding two years HIF A - 1,493
Within a period of more than two RMFA LB R F
years but not exceeding five years HIF A - 2,498
Within a period of more than RAFAEHBER
five years - 10,894
27,274 14,885
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23. INTEREST-BEARING BORROWINGS (Continued) 23. 5t EBE (&)
Notes: B 5
(a)  Other loans are repayable within one year and carry interest at prime rate (a) HMBERER—FREER WER-_TTN\FZ
for the year of 2008 (2007: Nil). SEBNERFR (ZFETLF F)-
(b)  Movements in other loans are as follows: (b)y HiERZEZHWOT:
2008 2007
—gENE —EENF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHER FHT
At beginning of year REL - -
Addition R 30,000 -
Repayment B (3,000) -
Interest accrued FEET B 274 -
At balance sheet date REEB 27,274 -
24. ZERO COUPON CONVERTIBLE NOTES 2. EEETHERFEE
The Group and the Company NEBRADT
2008 2007
—EEN\F ZETLF
HK$000 HK$'000
FHET FET
Liability component BERS
At beginning of year REH] 225,160 -
Fair value at inception BT 2 AFE = 408,000
Issuing costs BEITRA = (10,200)
Amortisation of effective interest BHERF B 833 24,000
Redemption & @l (225,993) (196,640)
At balance sheet date REEEH = 225,160
Equity component ERBD
At beginning of year REA] 99,840 -
Fair value at inception BB ZAYE = 192,000
Issuing costs BT - (4,800)
Redemption & o] (99,840) (87,360)
At balance sheet date REEH = 99,840
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24. ZERO COUPON CONVERTIBLE NOTES
(Continued)
Liability and equity components
On 10 August 2007 and 16 August 2007, the Company had
issued certain zero coupon convertible notes (the “Notes”)
to certain independent third parties at an aggregate principal
amount of HK$750,000,000 bearing no interest. The Notes
are convertible into ordinary shares of the Company, the
whole or any part of the principal amount outstanding, at
conversion price of HK$0.5 per share and be matured on 3
December 2010.

The fair value of the liability component and the equity
conversion component were determined at issuance of
the New Convertible Notes. The fair value of the liability
component was calculated using a market interest rate for
an equivalent non-convertible notes. The residual amount
represents the value of the equity conversion component.

On 10 August 2007, the Company received six conversion
notices from the Notes holders to request for the conversion
of the Notes issued. The Company then issued a total of
300,000,000 shares at the conversion price of HK$0.5.

In December 2007, Notes of HK$280,000,000 was redeemed.

The remaining balance of HK$320,000,000 was also
redeemed in January 2008.

FOREFRONT GROUP LIMITED # A &£BEHER A

24.

ZERTRRRE (&)

BERESEND

RZEZEFNATHEZZEZELFN
A+ RNB RARMETEBILE=FHE
TETZERETRBREE ([EE]) K
4 #4858 /750,000,000 7T - R FEt A o
ERAINEBRESRRH0SET #2
B TR REERASBELIRAAR
AEER ZEBEBER_ZET—ZF+ A
:EE'LH\Q°

BESy REER By 2 XA FERE
THARERERET BEFNZA
?TELAI—JWZT\TW&%TFZW%%U%
AE M AgalBgszEE.

RZEZ+LFNATH KRREEERE
BEAABEZANELBBN B3RH
BMEBTZEB ARAIBERIELRE
0.5/ L8174 $£300,000,000% % 15 °

RZEZELEF T+ A AR AREE
280,000,000 T2 2B B T 2
320,000,000 TRBEB TR _ZEN
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25.

26.

DEFINED CONTRIBUTION PLANS

The Group companies in Hong Kong participate in the
Mandatory Provident Fund (the “MPF Scheme”) which is
a defined contribution scheme managed by independent
trustees. The assets of the fund are hold separately from those
of the group companies and are managed by independent
professional fund managers. Under the MPF Scheme, each of
the Group (the employer) and its employees make monthly
contributions to the MPF Scheme at 5% of the employees’
earnings as defined under the Mandatory Provident Fund
legislation. The monthly contributions of each of the
employees are subject to a cap of HK$1,000 and thereafter
contributions are voluntary.

Contributions of approximately HK$325,000 (2007:
HK$118,000) were made during the year ended 31 December
2008.

DEFERRED TAXATION

The Group has not recognised deferred tax asset in respect of
unused tax loss of HK$587,749,000 (2007: HK$322,295,000)
relating to certain Hong Kong incorporated subsidiaries. The
tax losses have no expiry date under current tax legislation.
The deferred tax asset has not been recognised due to
uncertainty of its recoverability.

25.

26.

SE MRS
AEEBETETBZARC 2 MBS 1T
NESEHE ([BEEFE ) ZTETD
BB REAEE 2 RERNKGE - ZE
CZEERAKREERRZIEED AR
B YHBYEXRESKETE -RER
EeFE AEE(BX) REEEAR
BRAERBEEIZHRTE £E8EA
MR E ST EF LSRN EERAS%
HRX-BREEZ2EAHKERS1,000
BT BHZHRAEEREE -

AEBREZ_ZEZN\EFEF+_A=+—
BIEFEEDZ HF4 A325,000% T
(ZZEZT+4:118000/&7T) °

EZEHIE
AEFETESREAEAE TR EETM
R z2WEBARZASAMREBEEIE
587,749,000 L (= EF £ F -
322,295,000 0 ) ERBELETREE E -
RIEIRTHOE - BIB/BELEER A A -
RFEFL I8 & A B R ae b 5T T Y Bl 14 M ok
TR -
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27. SHARE CAPITAL 27. AR
2008 2007
—ZZN\f “EELF
No. of shares No. of shares
RAEE g e
'000 HK$'000 ‘000 HK$'000
TR TERT T AL
Authorised: EE
Ordinary shares of HK$0.10 each ~ BRFE0. 1078 7T 2 & Bk
At beginning of year RER 10,000,000 1,000,000 1,000,000 100,000
Increase in authorised share ETE IR ARG
capital - - 9,000,000 900,000
At end of the year REL 10,000,000 1,000,000 10,000,000 1,000,000
Issued and fully paid: ERTRABR:
Ordinary shares of HK$0.10 each ~ FIREE0. 108 L2 & Mk
At beginning of year RET) 1,785,813 178,581 435,772 43,577
Issuance of shares on rights issue BT % (MHEa)

(note a) 892,906 89,291 - -
Issuance of new shares (note b) ~ ZE{THTAR (M &Eb) 919,222 91,922 909,852 90,985
A&M Allotment ZEREFRE - - 33,521 3,352
Issuance of shares under share IBIE R BB TR

options scheme (note ¢) (BitzEc) 147,490 14,749 95,774 9,578
Share issued on conversion of BEHTSFUARZER

zero coupon convertible notes gl ani - - 300,000 30,000
Exercise of share option granted ~ fTERZIREB L AR T2

to Mr. Jerry Liu Bk - - 10,894 1,089
Capital Reorganisation (note d) BEAREM (K5Ed) (2,809,073) (280,907) - -
At balance sheet date REER 936,358 93,636 1,785,813 178,581
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27. SHARE CAPITAL (Continued)

Note:

(a)

(o)

Pursuant to the special resolutions passed at the extraordinary general
meeting held on 4 December 2007, rights shares of 892,906,512 were
allotted to successful applicants at HK$0.2 each on 3 January 2008.

On 11 February 2008 and 16 June 2008, the Company had allotted
and issued to independent third parties respectively 294,984,000 and
624,238,000 shares at cash consideration of HK$0.2 and HK$0.142 per
share.

Pursuant to the ordinary resolutions passed during the year, an aggregate
of 147,490,000 new shares of HK$0.213 each of the Company were
issued to certain individuals under the share option scheme at the exercise
price of HK$0.213 each.

At the extraordinary general meeting of the Company held on 15 October
2008, the resolutions in respect of the share consolidation and the capital
reduction of the Company (the “Capital Reorganisation”) were approved
by the shareholders. The effects of the Capital Reorganisation were as

follows:

(i) Under the capital reduction, the nominal value of all the issued
existing share was reduced from HK$0.1 each to HK$0.025 each by
cancelling HK$0.075 paid up on each issued existing share by way
of a reduction of capital.

(i) Under the share consolidation, every four reduced issued shares of
HK$0.025 each was consolidated into one adjusted issued share of
HK$0.10 each.

(iii)  The credit arising from such reduction was applied towards
cancelling the accumulated deficit of the Company with the
balance transferred to the distributable capital reduction reserve

account of the Company.

GEE

(a)

27. BA& (&)

BER-ZTLF+-ANBARITZRER
BIRE EBBZEFAIRER  HRZKIEBF
ARZZEENF— A= HER $892,906,512
AR AR AR 19 - BARVE(B0.28 7T -

RZTEEZNF-_A+—BR=ZZZENFRA
+RE - ARRFBLE = HEERETO
294,984,000/ }2.624,238,0000% & 15 - B &
RED B AEAR0.27 7T 01428 7T

BERFABBZEBRER A2AR
BERETERETEINALETAHR
147,490,000 &AR0.2138 T 2 1A% - 11{E(E
BE0.2138 T

RARREZFTENF+A+RARTZR
REFRIARE L BRRIEZHBER AR T RN
AHREXRER ([BEREA]) ZRER B
AEMZTENT:

(i)  RIBEREDR - ABIREA 2T A H
BRoHTRARD 28R KK0.075
B BREERTHRERN ZEER
FR0.1VEBTHIREER0.0258 7T °

(i) REBRMHEH HENKREREE.025
B2 BEITEEIRBRMHEHFA—RE
B0 0BT 2 AL EHITIRGD -

(i) BRABEREARFES ZERBKRHEAR
Az 25t EM - RBRBREARRRZ
AR IRE REDR IR
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28. B E
(a) ERHEE
BRESER-STSLENAAR

28. SHARE OPTIONS

(a) Share option scheme

A share option scheme was approved by shareholders on
6 August 2007 which will remain in force for a period of
10 years commencing on 6 August 2007.

Under the new share option scheme, the Company may
grant to Directors and employees of the Group and any
other persons who, in the sole discretion of the Board,
have contributed or will contribute to the Group. The
maximum of shares to be issued upon exercise of all
outstanding options granted and yet to be exercised
under the new share option scheme and any other share
option scheme of the Company must not in aggregate
exceed 30% of the total number of shares in issue from
time to time. The total number of shares which may
be issued upon exercise of all options to be granted
under the new share option scheme and any other share
option scheme of the Company must not in aggregate
exceed 10% of the shares in issue, the General Scheme
Limit, at the date of the passing of the relevant ordinary
resolution. If any options is to be granted to connected
person(s), it must be approved by independent non-
executive directors or independent shareholders as the
case may be.

1700 FOREFRONT GROUPLIMITED #BAH &£ EER A 7
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B B EAM AL - BITERES
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28. SHARE OPTIONS (Continued)

(b) Movement in share option scheme during the year:

(c)

On 11 February 2008, 147,490,000 share options were
granted under the share option scheme to individuals
who provided professional services to the Group. The
share price at the date of grant is HK$0.22. The share
price at the date of grant is the Stock Exchange closing
price on the trading date immediately prior to the date of
the grant of the options. The options were fully exercised
on 12 February 2008 and the Company received
proceeds of HK$31 million.

Fair value of share options and assumptions

The fair value of share option granted at the grant date
was HK$0.042 per share, which are calculated using the
Binomial option pricing model with the following inputs:

Average share price HK$0.221
Weighted average exercise price HK$0.213
Expected volatility 141%
Expected life 10 years
Risk free rate 2.553%
Suboptimal exercise factor

on early exercise behaviour 1.25

28. B E (2Z)
(b) FRBRESE > BE:

(c)

W_ZENF-_A+—B A2
AIRBEEREAESERTRAAEE
REBEZERB2Z2E2@AAT
147,490,00017 & A #E o & H B8 %
EEHZBRER22B T - BB
REZEEBZREASNEERLER
BEBHR RS BRBX T2
ME-BREECHNR-_ZEZENF_A
TZEERETE AATREME
EXFT1§ X 7831,000,000/8 JT °

BREQAFERRBER
REHERELZEREZ R E
RERR70.0428 7T THiRIE T3
A — AR EEEAGE:

R E 0.22178 7T
niEFHITEE 0.2138 7T
T8 HA 2 18 141%
T8 HA & 2 H 104
| B A = 2.553%
RETERZ

RAETEER 1.25
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29. RESERVES 29. f#fE
The Company AT
Share  Zero coupon Capital Capital
Share option  convertible Contributed Capital Redemption Accumulated
Premium reserve notes Surplus Reserve Reserve Deficit Total
25 X
RGEE BRERE TRRREE EON:4S EXfife BARERE Bl ast

HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$"000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR TET TR TAR TR TAT TATL TATL

At 1 January 2007 R=ZZt5-A-8 235,491 - - 16,692 4,492 1173 (285,241) (27,393)
Issuance of new shares BITHIR 150,202 - - - - - - 150,202
Issuance costs on issue of new shares  EITHRE 2 BT A (12,914) - - - - - - (12,914)
Zero coupon convertible notes TERTERER 120,000 - 99,840 - - - - 219,840
Share options granted RiLERE - 16,374 - - - - - 16,374
Exercise of share options e RIE 53,999 (16,374) - - - - - 37,625
Issued of shares to AGM A EETREA 3,788 - - - - - - 3,788
Loss for the year FRER - - - - - - (364,058)  (364,058)
At 31 December 2007 RZETLE+ZA=1—H 550,566 - 99,840 16,692 4,492 1173 (649,299 23,464
At 1 January 2008 R-ZZN\F-F—H 550,566 - 99,840 16,692 4,492 1,173 (649,299) 23,464
Issuance of shares on rights issue HREBTR 89,291 - - - - - - 89,291
Issuance of new shares BITHIR 55,716 - - - - - - 55,716
Issuance costs on issue of new shares  E{7H Rk 2 B1TH A (8,913) - - - - - - (8,913)
Redemption of zero coupon BROZERTERER

convertible notes - - (99,840) - - - (2,560) (102,400)
Share options granted B R - 6,239 - - - - - 6,239
Exercise of share options TEERIE 22,906 (6,239) - - - - - 16,667
Capital reorganisation BAEHR - - - - - - 280,907 280,907
Loss for the year FREER - - - - - - (244,028) (244,028)
At 31 December 2008 R=BENE+-A=1-A 709,566 - - 16,692 4,492 1,173 (614,980) 116,943
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30. CASH USED IN OPERATIONS 30. KEFTARE
2008 2007
—EEN\HF —EELF
HK$000 HK$'000
FHET FHE T
(Restated)
(E3)
Loss before taxation from continuing SFESEEE 2 HRBAEIE
operations (265,660) (323,783)
Interest on bank and other borrowings RITREAMEEZ N E 797 250
Interest income RIS N (577) (6,388)
Negative goodwill in acquiring Wi —EE A EEsABE
an associate - (4,244)
Share of results of associates JEIEEEE N A 2 %48 (4,464) (1,860)
Impairment on available AHEEZIRERE
for sale investment - 25,000
Impairment loss on goodwill B 2 REEE 8,000 67,000
Gain on redemption of BRHZEENHREE 2 &=
zero coupon convertible notes (8,393) (6,240)
Amortisation of liabilities component of — ##$E AR EE 2 BEH D
convertible notes 833 24,000
Loss in discontinued operations ERIEEEXEB 2 EE (8,642) (9,404)
Gain on disposal of interest HERBENBRAAI ZHm L
in Taiwan subsidiaries Wz — (1,422)
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries HEMB ARGz e (5,648) -
Gain on disposal of assets held for sale HEFELHEEE o Wz (175) -
Depreciation of investment properties KEMENRDE BERZE
and property, plant and equipment e 2,225 2,317
Loss/(Gain) on disposal of property, HEME BELER&REBEZ
plant and equipment BB () 290 (83)
Share options granted B AR 6,239 16,374
Reclassified back from subsidiary held RIFELEMBRAAEF DA
for sale 276 -
A&M allotment ZEEEER - 7,140
Changes in working capital: LEEe#
Financial assets at fair value RERKREAFEERRE .
through profit or loss PHEEE 131,387 (209,975)
Inventories Sy 20,864 (2,270)
Trade and other receivables FEUNE 5 1R 50 N E b FE UL R IR 16 (1,063)
Trade and other payables e E S5 0R 5 % E b FEAS FRIE 923 (10,857)
Loan receivables W E = (34,215) -
Inventories classified as held for sale DEAFELEZHTE - (4,506)
Trade and other receivables of BIEHEZMB AR Z ERE
a subsidiary held for sale SR 3 N E b FE U F A = 1,077
Trade and other payables of FIELEZMB AR ZENE
a subsidiary held for sale 208 7 B H At g < R I8 - 704
Cash used in operations KEFFHAERES (155,924) (438,233)
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31. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES

(a)

(b)

Allied Well Development Limited (“Allied Well”)

During the year, the Group disposed of its entire interest
in a subsidiary, Allied Well to a wholly-owned subsidiary
of Willie International Holding Limited (“Willie")
(see note 34) at a consideration of approximately
HK$20,160,000 which was satisfied by the issuance
and allotment of 160,000,000 shares of Willie valued
at HK$0.126 per share. A gain of approximately
HK$3,600,000 was recognised during the year.

U-Drive

The disposal of the Group's interests in U-Drive is fully
explained in note 8(b) to the financial statements.

The disposal of Allied well and U-Drive had the following
effect on the Group's assets and liabilities:

31. HEKWE A F

(a)

(b)

BHERERARAT ([BE])

FR - AEERAHMNERZERA
BRAR(TRAR]) c —H2EME
NAIEEREBARME R AEE
ZEBER (RKFE34)  REY
420,160,000/ 7T ' B & B & & i
0.126/8 7L %17 & B 160,000,000
BREFIIR D 25 XA FARARER
Z Uz #943,600,000/8 7T °

ERT
HEAEBRERTT 2R —FR
B 75 ¥R 2% M 18 (b)RE it

HEBERARTHAEEEER
BEZYENT:

2008
—EENE
HK$'000
FTHERT

Net assets disposed of: FrHEFEE:
Investment properties "EYE 29,931
Property, plant and equipment W BB kFE 2
Trade and other receivables FEWE 5 bR 3k K H e U 3R IE 4,091
Cash and bank balances Be RIRITHET 186
Trade and other payables FEHE 50k 3k N E A FE (S F0E (3,067)
Bank borrowings RITEE (14,631)
16,512
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries HEWNB QR s 5,648
Total consideration HRE 22,160

104 FOREFRONT GROUP LIMITED A& @ ER A 7




Notes to the Financial Statements

81 15 ¥ & MY =

31. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES (Continued) 31. HEMB AR (£)
(b) U-Drive (Continued) (b) FHT (&)
2008
—EENE
HK$'000
FHET
Satisfied by: XA
Cash consideration ReRE 2,000
Listed shares included in financial assets FFARERREAFTERE Y
at fair value through profit or loss M EE . TG 20,160
22,160
Analysis of net inflow (outflow) of cash and cash EALEXEK R RREEEWRA
equivalents in respect of disposal of businesses: (mHE) FREYI:
2008
—EENE
HK$"000
FET
Cash consideration ReRE 1,400
Cash and cash equivalents disposed FIEECHERIBSEEY (186)
Net inflow of cash and cash equivalents HeRBRESEBYURA
R 1,214
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32. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

Alleged agreement on investment in a customer

Mr. Lo Chia Yu (“Mr. Lo”) has allegedly claimed a verbal
agreement was entered into on 12 March 2002 by his wholly-
owned company, Global Travel Holdings Limited (“Global
Travel”) and Forefront Automotive Services Company Limited
("FAS"), a wholly owned subsidiary of the Company, relating
to an equity investment by FAS in Global Travel amounting
to HK$7,800,000. FAS position is that the agreement was
subject to it conducting due diligence on Global Travel
to its satisfaction. As requested, FAS paid a deposit of
HK$2,000,000 to Mr. Lo. Subsequently, the accounting firm
employed by FAS reported unsatisfactory result on the due
diligence review, therefore FAS did not elect to proceed
with the alleged agreement. Mr. Lo has filed proceedings
claiming HK$7,800,000 together with alternative damage
and FAS has lodged a counter claim to Mr. Lo for return of
the HK$2,000,000 paid as deposit. A contingent liability
netting off the counter claims as set out above amounting
to HK$5,800,000 are alleged to be due from FAS to Global
Travel. The matter has not progressed after an initial hearing
and was adjourned to a further date to be determined by
the court subject to its receipt of sufficient document from
the two parties. The Company has not received any notice
in relation to any specific dates for any further hearing. The
directors are of the opinion that no reliable estimate can be
made and do not consider a provision is necessary.
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32. AIREE

R—BEFZRENERBHS

BRERWAEE((BREE)RBEBES
& A 2 A alGlobal Travel Holdings
Limited ([ Global Travel |) & 2752 &)
ZEEMBARIRAAEREERAF
([BAREREI )R- =_F=A8
BN Z AERRREERR - ERS
N A& RE R Global Travel 2 1%
%7,800,0008 T B TERB 215
BB EENREEHNE Global Travel#E1T
CEBESRAUEE -RBARBERHE
Ji& 2 5 /) B 55 A4 2 I — 28342 ©2,000,000
BLoHE ENEHAERBEEZS
ATRTTHREY T ENZERESER
BAHAEREEMERETEELEITZIE
M1 - B e B AR R(E7,800,000%
TERENRNESEE MEHRERS
BERETERERRE  BRERE N
122,000,000 7T ° A It - A 8 E it
Fr#RBERERERBEFABERER
£ Global Travelz =t %A & & &5,800,000
BT o Ll EE RV SRR A I & T3
B BERRMEBHFEEERNEEES
RANMHBATZEMA FHITER
AARWEZEEE BN EAETE B BRE
THEAE-—FTRACBN -EERAE
SEVEH A ST WRAERELEE -
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32. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES (Continued)

Legal claims against a customer

The Group issued a Writ of Summons to a customer on
3 July 2008 to claim for the balance of nine coaches
totalling HK$10,300,000 pursuant to a purchase order
from the customer received by the Group in August 2006.
The customer was unable to obtain the Passenger Service
Licenses (PSL) for the nine coaches and the customer filed a
counterclaim against the Group for non-compliance with the
delivery schedules and claimed for HK$7,000 per coach per
week from the extended delivery deadline (1 February 2008)
until the date the Group duly delivers the coaches.

In February 2009, a supplier has agreed to take up the nine
coaches at HK$4,000,000 to settle the matter. The extra
body-builder costs will be borne by the supplier. On 6 March
2009, the Group entered into Chassis Sale Agreement with
the supplier for sales of the nine coaches to the supplier at
HK$4,000,000 and on the same day, the parties involved
entered into a settlement to effect a full and final settlement.

Upon settlement, the Group was released from the case. The
cost of the nine coaches was HK$4,500,000 and a provision
on the net realisable value of the nine coaches of HK$500,000
and legal costs in connection with the above dispute of
HK$100,000 have been made in the financial statements.

32. AAREE(Z)

M—EEFRUEZEERER
RZEENFELA=ZH AEEBR—F
EPEHER REBRBEAEER -
ERFN\AREZEP CREITEMY
VR 32 2+ 2 #7584 $£10,300,000
/aﬁosﬁ%}fﬂi E B RZ N9 R 22 B2 £ EY
Foltih ZRPHEAEER
ﬁ@ﬂﬁﬁ%ﬁﬁmﬁ’ﬁlhﬁ&aﬂ
CHRRSEABALLERMNERRA (ZF
)\¢ A— El)tiZIK%l;ﬂ%ﬁum
Et+EXIEEEHEMKREES 17,000

T
s 03
4} ﬁﬁﬂ

o TS'?*» A “N} RS
FH i

Tg

“EENFRA —RBEEFEEMN
4,000,000/ 7T #2 5% L 80 i 32 B2 4 DA R
REG mMZEEE e REEINZE
%%ﬁﬁﬁ"ﬁ-vzhi ﬂ/\E K
EEHEZEERIIVERHEERR
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33. COMMITMENTS

Commitments under operating leases

The Group leases a number of properties under operating
leases, which typically run for an initial period of 1-3 years.
None of these leases includes contingent rentals. At the
balance sheet date, the Group had future lease payments
under non-cancellable operating leases, which are payable as
follows:

33.

S

REHEERE
AREBN—RNFRP—E=ZF 2L
HEHRRZEMX EHHEEY B
ZAEE -NEER  REBER AT
REHEZ R RBEENREIRATFH
S

2008 2007

—ZEZNF —TETLF

HK$'000 HK$'000

THER FETT

Within one year —F R 211 2,922
In the second to fifth years inclusive F_EFRF (BREEEMSF) 7 124
218 3,046

Commitments on a new investment

As more fully described in note 20(c) to the financial
statements, pursuant to the acquisition agreement signed
with Excel Way and Mr. Yeung Ming Kwong, the completion
of the acquisition of Excel Way should not be later than
27 February 2009 and if so, under the memorandum
of association of Tinhua, the second capital injection of
US$6,350,000 should be injected by February 2009.
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R—IEHRE Z&IE

15 98 6 B B A5 BR ¢ St AR 2R ET 2 WEE 1
HORBCWEERN-_ZEENF AR
ZTEBAITEK MR EE DS T
BRRBREZHABERAN F2F
& %6,350,000 X TER_EZNF A
AIEN BEHERRERVBREME
20(c) °
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33. COMMITMENTS (Continued)

Commitments on a new investment (Continued)

Up to the date of the financial statements, the acquisition
is not yet completed. Management is negotiating for better
terms with the relevant parties and has withheld the second
capital injection. Excel Way has submitted an application to
Taian Administration for Industry and Commerce to apply
for an extension on the deadline of capital injection. The
application was approved and the deadline is extended to
end of April 2009. The directors indicated that they will
determine whether to proceed with the project by April 2009.
If the directors decided not to proceed, the deposit paid will
be refunded to the Group as agreed in the agreement. The
refund is guaranteed by the Group's director, Mr. Yeung Ming
Kwong.

Upon completion, Tinhua will be treated as an associate of
the Group and accounted for under the equity accounting
method.

33. RIE (&)

R-BHREZEE (&)
BEMBHRRAY WEEHEHERTK -
EEEBRIEEMBEIOTEREEREL
B WEMBEE R FE BB RER
ZMIATHREERREXAFALEEE
BRM-ZIBRFCELE RETCE
BE _TZENFOAR-EEXRTHEE
R-ZFZNFHARNRE EBETHEA
B-MEEFRETETZEB N
ZEERERZBHEMBERETAE
B-ZERACHAKEESZSHLL
R
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Other than disclosed elsewhere in the financial statements,
during the year the Group had the following significant
related party transactions:

34. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 34.

BEEALXRS
BB RREMEBOREEN  ARE
RERNETZERBEALRZUOT:

Notes:

(a)  Willie International Holding Limited was a shareholder of the Company
holding 6.03% equity interest in share capital of the Company. Its
shareholding was reduced to 4.92% on 19 December 2008.

(b)  The Group holds 40% interest in Golden Fame which holds 50% equity
share of Wintop Shipping Company Ltd in turn.

()  Scania CV AB is the principal supplier of the Group and a holding
company of Scania Trade Development AB, a substantial shareholder up
to 4 June 2007 as its share holding has diluted to 8.5% on that day.

Scania Singapore Pte Ltd is wholly owned subsidiaries of Scania CV AB.

(d)  Sales and purchases were charged at market prices.

1710 FOREFRONT GROUP LIMITED BAH &M@ ER A 7

o

2008 2007
—EENFE ZERF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHETT
Scania CV AB (notes ¢ & d) Scania CV AB (H¥sEckd)
— Purchase and service provided —BERERERS - 23,633
— Warranty claim — R [E A - 808
— Interest paid —BfRHLE - 109
— Miscellaneous income — MBI A - 467
Consideration received EREERB AR ZRE:
from disposal of subsidiaries:
— Willie International Holding Limited — BN BRI R AR A A]
(note a) (KiiEa) 20,160 -
- Golden Fame (note b) — &= (Mzb) 2,000 -
Wintop Shipping Company Ltd Wintop Shipping Company Ltd
- Sales (note b) —HE (b)) - 2,520
Loan from a subsidiary of Willie (note f) B F—REH B R RIEH 2 E X
(P =ES) 10,000 -

A ERZERERARGARNARRE #E
RARRAF6.03%AE - HFTsRER =T
ZNFE+ZATNBERLEL92%

AEEBELEI0%RE MEFAHFE
Wintop Shipping Company Ltd 50%#&# °

Scania CV ABRAKE Y T EHER U A
Scania Trade Development ABZ #Ef% /AR
Scania Trade Development ABREZ - ZF
+ERAOBAIARAER F R BER
#2570 5% B #5585 %8.5% © Scania Singapore
Pte Ltd&Scania CV ABZ 2 BHf B AT °

HEEBERmERSE-
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34,

35.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

(e) Interest expenses were charged at the pre-agreed rates.

() The loan from a subsidiary of Willie is unsecured, bearing interest at
prime rate and repayable in September 2009. During the year, the Group
has paid interest in respect of the amount due amounting to HK$169,000
(2007: HK$Nil).

Reference is made to the annual report of year 2007 and
related announcements. In year 2007, the Group acquired
interests in Tianjin Kai Sheng. Mr. Zhuang You Dao, a director
of the Company, was a substantial shareholder of Tianjin Kai
Sheng.

In addition to the above, Mr. Zhuang You Dao, the director of
the Company, has given personal guarantee to the Group for
a loan of HK$5,000,000 granted to a subsidiary to finance its
loans to Tianjin Kai Sheng.

As more fully explained in note 20(c), the Group entered
into a subscription agreement with Excel Way and Mr. Yeung
Ming Kwong, a director of the Company. Upon signing of
the subscription agreement, the Group paid a deposit of
HK$9,776,000 for subscribing the shares in Excel Way.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group's principal financial instruments are investment
securities, convertible notes, bank loans, cash and short-term
deposits. The main purpose of these financial instruments
is to raise and maintain finance for the Group’s operations.
The Group has various other financial instruments such as
trade receivables and trade payables and financial asset and
liabilities at fair value through profit or loss, which arise
directly from its business activities.

34.

35.

BEALRS (&)

(e) FEBFXHRAEMEZERAE-

) EF—FERBARRM ERAEER K&
BEMNERAERAR-_ZTZNFHABE-
FRN - AKRE BB R RIS FIE169,0007 7T
(ZFT+LF-FT¥r)-

BRI —FTLFFRMBEE M-
R-ZZLFE AEEKBERZMEL
BB -ARREFTHERBEERRXR
R BZTERR-

BEmEN KRR ESHRELER
—EIMI /8 A ) ¥&5% 2 5,000,000/8 TTE K
mMAEERBEARRKR ZEZEXDA
ERXETHBRHER -

BA BT FE20(c) P 5l - 78 5 B B 5 gk e AR
NREBHPENR LA I RE W NE
EREWEE  ANEBE2%179,776,000
BILIEAREREBRN Z2IES -

MBERRERE

FEEBTEMBITARREES A
BmEEE ROTEF ReREHER-
HEMBTAZEIRREDNANEEZ
EBEERERRE-AREEETH
MM TE WEEBEXBEPELE
ZEWE ZIRFRIENE SRR AR
REBERREAFEREZMBEERE

go
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35. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

The main risks arising from the Group's financial instruments
are equity price risk, credit risk, interest rate risk and liquidity
risk. The Board of Directors generally adopts conservative
strategies on its risk management and limits the Group's
exposure to these risks to a minimum. The Board of Directors
reviews and agrees policies for managing each of these risks
and they are summarized below. The Group also monitors the
market price risk arising from all financial instruments.

Equity price risk

The Group is exposed to equity price risk arising from
trading of listed securities classified as investments held for
trading in the balance sheet. The sensitivity analysis has been
determined based on the exposure to equity price risk.

At the balance sheet date, if the quoted market prices had
been 20% higher or lower while all other variables were held
constant, the Group’s net loss would decrease or increase by
HK$19,750,000 (2007: 42,578,000) as a result of changes
in fair value of investments. The Group's sensitivity to equity
price has changed significantly from the prior year.

The sensitivity analysis has been determined assuming that
the reasonably possible changes in the stock market index or
other relevant risk variables had occurred at the balance sheet
date and had been applied to the exposure to equity price risk
in existence at that date. It is also assumed that the fair values
of the Group’s investments would change in accordance
with the historical correlation with the relevant stock market
index or the relevant risk variables, that none of the Group’s
securities investments would be considered impaired as a
result of a reasonably possible decrease in the relevant stock
market index or other relevant risk variables, and that all
other variables remain constant. The stated changes represent
management’s assessment of reasonably possible changes in
the relevant stock market index or the relevant risk variables
over the period until the next annual balance sheet date. The
analysis is performed on the same basis for 2007.
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35. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

Credit risk

Credit risk refers to the risk that debtors will default on their
obligations to repay the amounts due to the Group, resulting
in a loss to the Group. The Group has adopted procedures
in extending credit terms to customers and in monitoring
its credit risk. The credit policy on extending credit terms
to customers includes assessing and valuing of customer’s
creditworthiness and financial standing. Management also
closely monitors all outstanding debts and reviews the
collectability of trade debtors periodically. At the balance
sheet date, the Group has a concentration of credit risk as
37% (2007: 27%) and 97% (2007: 30%) of the total trade
and other receivables was due from the Group's largest
customer and the five largest customers respectively.

The Group has limited credit risk with its money deposited
in financial institutions and brokers, which are leading and
reputable and are assessed as having low credit risk. The
Group has not had any significant loss arising from non-
performance by these parties in the past and management
does not expect so in the future.

Interest rate risk

The Group has exposures to interest rate as its loan
receivables and other borrowings are subject to floating
interest rates. However, cash flow interest rate risk is
considered minimals as the loan receivables and other
borrowings have short maturity dates.

The interest rate risk for bank balance exposed is considered
minimal as such amounts are placed in banks with maturing
less than three months.

Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk refers to the risk in which the Group is unable
to meet its short-terms obligations. Liquidity risk is minimal
and is managed by matching the payments and receipts
cycles. The Group's operations are financed mainly through its
business activities.

Although the Company has net current liabilities, these mainly
consist of amounts due to its wholly-owned subsidiaries
which would not involve cash outflow in the near future. The
Company has sufficient cash balances to meet its obligation to
outsiders and management considers the liquidity risk is low.

35. W RABERE (&)

FERK
EERREEHSAREBITHEEREN
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35. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 35. HEBRER (&)
Liquidity risk (Continued) RBESRK (Z)
The maturity profile of the Company’s financial liabilities at AARVBBERGEEBRIES LR
the balance sheet date based on contractual undiscounted WRIBZ BIHBEREH T -

payments are summarized below:

Year ended 31 December 2008
BEZ-ZEN\F+-A=1+—-HLEE

Less than 3-12 Over 5
3 months months  1-5 years years Total
=f@A =ZF
DA T=18A —ZRF RENLE #Agt

HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000
TER TER TER TER TER

Trade and other payables FERTE 5 MR % HL A & 5 7008 17,806 - - - 17,806
Interest-bearing borrowing HEEE - 28,087 - - 28,087
17,806 28,087 - - 45,893

Year ended 31 December 2007
BE-ZT+F+-_A=+-HILFE

Less than 3-12 Over
3 months months 1-5 years 5 years Total
=1&a A =z
A +Z@A —ZRF RFNE Bt

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET TET TET TET TET

Trade and other payables BB SRR H A EA FOR 19,232 - - - 19,232
Interest-bearing borrowing HEEE 180 551 3,260 10,894 14,885
Zero coupon convertible notes ZERTHRRER 225,160 - - - 225,160

244,572 551 3,260 10,894 259,277
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35. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 35. I EMmER (&)
Capital management EXER
The objectives of the Group’s capital management are to AEEERERAZBENRREZERRE
safeguard the entity’s ability to continue as a going concern FECE WARRERER AEEE
and to provide returns for shareholders. The Group manages BHEAREBWELAE BERARE
its capital structure and makes adjustments, including AT E - MR R REE Al (TR AR
payment of dividend to shareholders, return capital to SHEEENRIEE - BHE_ZTZTN
shareholders or issue new shares or sell assets to reduce FRZIZFZELEFTA=T—HIEFE
debts. No changes were made in the objectives, policies or WEEREMEZR BEREEF -
processes during the years ended 31 December 2008 and
2007.
The Group monitors capital on the basis of debt-to-adjusted REBRBEBHELCTHERARLL K (M
capital ratio, which is net debt divided by adjusted capital. The BEEFERACHABRAAE)ERE
debt-to-adjusted capital ratios at the balance sheet date were K- MEER 2 EHELFERARLL X
as follow: NN
2008 2007
—EENE ZETLF
HK$'000 HK$'000
THER FHEIT
Interest bearing loans and borrowings SFEERLEE 27,274 14,885
Trade and other payables FEAT B 20k 3k I B At FE S 5B 17,806 19,232
Zero coupon convertible notes TEEMBREIE - 225,160
Less: Cash and short term deposits R eREHER (64,154) (162,913)
Net debt B1% %8 (19,074) 96,364
Total equity and adjusted capital % 1 48 S A P B R 225,275 246,884
Debt-to-adjusted capital ratio B LR AN L & (8%) 39%
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Notes to the Financial Statements

a. By business segments

36. SEGMENTAL INFORMATION

business segment is as follow:

The Group is principally engaged in investing, securities
trading and provision of financing services. An analysis by

36. 7 EESR

a. REXSE
AEBFEHRERLE FHEER
REMERB -ZEBSBELTM
T

Year ended 31 December 2008
BE-_ZEN\F+-A=+t-HLEE
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Investing  Financing Unallocated Total
RE ME AEIE M@t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TER TER TER TER
Turnover =
Net loss on disposal of HERBRERATEREL
financial assets at fair value WBEEZEEFE
through profit or loss (80,823) - - (80,823)
Interest income from provision of 1R &BRE 2 F BUA
financial services - 9,259 - 9,259
Total turnover BmExRE (80,823) 9,259 - (71,564)
Operating results ReE¥E
Segment results NEEE (222,562) (37,092) (16,118)  (275,772)
Share of results of associates EEBEARCER 4,464
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries HEMBARZ KA 5,648
Taxation M =
Loss from continuing operations REBBELEEBER (265,660)
Loss from discontinued operations ~ KEBKLIHEEELE 2 EE (8,642)
Loss attributable to shareholders BEELERE (274,302)
Other information Hirg s
Assets — Continuing operations BE-BREEEER 135,966 66,517 44,998 247,481
- Discontinued operations —BRILEEERK 22,874
270,355
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36. SEGMENTAL INFORMATION (Continued)

a. By business segments (Continued)

36. DEER (&)
a. REKSE(E)

Year ended 31 December 2008
BE-_ZEN\F+-A=t-HLEE
Investing  Financing Unallocated Total

rE ME ARIE Azt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TER THET THERT THERT

Liabilities - Continuing operations

- Discontinued operations

Capital expenditure — Continuing
operations

- Discontinued
operations

Depreciation and other non-cash
expenditures— Continuing
operations

- Discontinued
operations

BE-HBELEER = 34,824 5,356 40,180
—BREEEER 4,900
45,080

BRAHY -BELEEK

—BRIEEEER
3,627
3,627
NEREMIERS
B —HERLER

150,444 44,142 6,285 200,871

—BRIEEEK
3,376
204,247
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36. SEGMENTAL INFORMATION (Continued)

By business segments (Continued)

a.

36. 7 EER (&)

a. REBIE(E)

Year ended 31 December 2007 (Restated)
BE-ZZtF+-_A=+—BHLFE (E7)

Investing Financing  Unallocated Total
wE BE  RESE m@Et
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TAL FHET THET TET
Turnover EEH
Net loss on disposal of HERBRERATEREL
financial assets at fair value WBEEZEEFE
through profit or loss (52,213) - - (52,213)
Interest income from provision of RS BRE 2 F BUA
financial services - 439 - 439
Total turnover Be®y (52,213) 439 - (51,774)
Operating results RexE
Segment results DEXE (282,930) 727 (43,440)  (325,643)
Share of results of associates AN 1,860
Loss from continuing operations REBELEEB B (323,783)
Loss from discontinued operations ~ REBKIEEEE 2 EE (9,404)
Loss attributable to shareholders BREELEE (333,187)
Other information Hin &R
Assets — Continuing operations BE-HBELEEHE 21,161 1,551 19,796 442,508
- Discontinued operations —BRIEEREER 63,653
506,161
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36. SEGMENTAL INFORMATION (Continued) 36. o EER (&)
a. By business segments (Continued) a. REBIE(E)

Year ended 31 December 2007 (Restated)
HZE_ZTHHE+_A=+—-BLEE (E7)
Investing Financing  Unallocated Total
®E ME  AESR @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THL TET THET THT

Liabilities - Continuing operations

- Discontinued operations

Capital expenditure — Continuing
operations

- Discontinued
operations

Depreciation and other non-cash
expenditures— Continuing
operations

- Discontinued
operations

BE-RELEEK 15,005 - 226,486 241,491
—BREPEEER 17,786
259,277

BRHY -BELEEK
126,650 - - 126,650

—BREEER
1,909
128,559

NEREMERS

B —HECEER
231,589 - 23,494 255,083

—DRIEEER
3,493
258,576
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36. SEGMENTAL INFORMATION (Continued) 36. 7 EER (&)
b. By geographical segments b. ®RUMEDE
The Group's activities are conducted predominantly in AEECZEBIERAE BEK
Taiwan, Hong Kong and People’s Republic of China REEAREME (TREAM])#E
(“Mainland China”). An analysis by geographical TR ELTAOT :

segments is as follows:

Year ended 31 December 2008
BE-ZEN\F+-A=1+-HLEE

Mainland
Hong Kong China Taiwan Unallocated Total
B HE it =) | AEAE 5t

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET TET TET TET TET

Turnover 2XE (71,564) - - (71,564)

Segment results NEEE (268,052) (7,720) - (275,772)

Loss from operations TR EIE (266,422) (7,720) - (274,142)
Assets - Continuing operations BE-RBELEER 213,561 8,987 1,733 23,200 247,481
- Discontinued operations —BRIEELELR 22,874
270,355

Capital expenditure - Continuing BARY —HELEEH

operations - - - - -

- Discontinued —BRIEBEER
operations 3,627

3,627
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36. SEGMENTAL INFORMATION (Continued) 36. o EER (&)
b. By geographical segments (Continued) b. B#ESE (&)

Year ended 31 December 2007
BT+ F+-A=1+—RHIFE

Mainland
Hong Kong China Taiwan  Unallocated Total
B FEIA =) REAE Bt

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET TET TET TET TET

Turnover HER (51,774) - - (51,774)
Segment results PEEE (235,036) (92,015) 1,408 (325,643)
Profit (Loss) from operations meRF (58) (210,786) (92,015) 1,408 (301,393)
Assets - Continuing operations BE-RHELEER 412,979 8,000 1,733 19,796 442,508
- Discontinued operations —ERIEEEEE 63,653
506,161
Capital expenditure — Continuing BARY —HRALKEER
operations 26,650 100,000 - - 126,650
- Discontinued —ERIEEEEK
operations 1,909
128,559
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37. COMPARATIVE FIGURES

In prior year, sale proceeds and related cost of sales
of investments held for trading were presented in the
consolidated income statement within turnover and cost of
investments held for trading sold respectively.

In the current year, the Group changed its presentation of
turnover and cost of sales, as in the opinion of the directors,
it is more appropriate to present the gain/loss on investments
held for trading disposed of during the year on a net basis
so as to provide more relevant information in respect of the
Group's operations and to conform with market practices.

The effects of this change in presentation have been
accounted for retrospectively with comparative figures
restated. The specific line items affected are as follows:

37. Lk g F

REF HEMSHRARMEE L ERFE
HERBEZRAGNEARGERAZE
XBERHERFEEREZRARNDF

275

HREFRAREREZARASEE
EZHBEARTEMSEMNME N
FEEE2IFALERFEEZRE
W/ BERRAE  MAEENAF
EENEEBNHEERRZZ25HTR -

FREHSH IR HEDEPARE
VEEF BT FHE Y HTEA
mT

2008 2007

—EENE ZERLF

HK$'000 HK$'000

THER FHEIT

Decrease in turnover SIS 233,935 720,463
Decrease in cost of sales SHE AN T B (233,935) (720,463)

The above changes do not have any impact on the results of
the Group in respect of the current and prior year.

As more fully explained in note 8(b), the Group has disposed
of its interests in U-Dirve, which resulted a discontinuance
of the provision of fuel chain services. The comparative
information in relation to income and cash flow statement
and the related notes attributable to the discontinued
operations have been restated accordingly.

In addition, as explained in note 8(d), certain conditions as set
out in the agreement with Scania have not been fulfilled in
relation to the disposal of a subsidiary in PRC, the agreement
was deemed to be terminated and ceased to have effect.
Accordingly, the interests in this subsidiary of HK$2,315,000 is
no longer classified as held for sale as at 31 December 2008.
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tREHTIEHEARERFEREFE
ZEBEBKEMZE-

B EES(b) P AF AL - AR E B & HNME
BTz s SRR ILRHMRESER
BolmikRBETREXRTERERL
REXEBZHRER MBEMECHE
ERTIE

IbE A1 - B0 FY FE8(d) AT i+ EdScaniaBt i &
—HPERBAR Y 2 BEME 2
BT BEREER WZHhEEEAD
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The following is a summary of the published consolidated income
statement and consolidated balance sheets of Forefront Group
Limited (the "Company”) and its subsidiaries (together the

AT REFEEERAF ([AAH]) REM
Bom (5 [AKE ] ) BERF 2 TIES
BRGERMEAEERBERME-FTHF

"Group"”) for the past five years. Certain figures has been restated

for comparative purpose with year 2007:

EREN NE-_TTHFHFELE:

CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT soakEE
2008 2007 2006 2005 2004
—EENE C—TELF ZTER “TTERF —TTNMEF
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FEx TET TET TExT TExT
Turnover EER (71,564) (51,774) 3,786 5,528 7,417
Cost of sales and services SHE KBRS AR AR - - - (566) (426)
Gross (loss) profit (E8)EF (71,564) (51,774) 3,786 4,962 6,991
Other income HAn A 9,919 18,518 337 15,881 -
Distribution and DEREERT
selling expenses - (331) (286) (46) (157)
General and administrative —RBRETERX
expenses (70,187) (128,386) (15,919) (129,970) (29,152)
Changes in fair value of REZREATFE
financial assets at fair value ~ BEVEHBEEZ
through profit or loss NFEE (142,310) (139,420) - - -
Loss from operations e EE (274,142) (301,393) (12,082) (109,173) (22,318)
Finance costs AE A (1,630) (24,250) (290) (3,479) (584)
Gain on disposal of HENE A Az s
subsidiaries 5,648 - - - -
Share of results of associates ~ [E(GEE 4N T EE 4,464 1,860 - - -
Loss before taxation BrEiElE (265,660) (323,783) (12,372) (112,652) (22,902)
Taxation FiIA - - - 1,261 -
Loss from continuing REFELEER
operations B8 (265,660) (323,783) (12,372) (111,391) (22,902)
Loss from discontinuing REDKRELEES
operations 28 (8,642) (9,404) (12,380) (5,713) (32,458)
(274,302) (333,187) (24,752) (117,104) (55,360)
Attributable to: AT AL FELS
Equity holders of the BRRIRIERE A
parent (274,302) (333,187) (24,752) (117,104) (55,360)
Minority interests DB R - - - - -
Loss attributable REREGEE
to shareholders (274,302) (333,187) (24,752) (117,104) (55,360)
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CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET GREEESEX
2008 2007 2006 2005 2004
—EENE “ET+EF —EERF CZTTARF —ETNEF
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TEx FET FEL FAT FET
Non-current assets FERBEE 39,534 72,006 3,524 48,487 206,398
Current assets MEEE 230,821 434,155 103,763 164,653 118,959
Current liabilities REEE (45,080) (259,277) (82,628) (163,731) (74,991)
Net current assets REBEEFE 185,741 174,878 21,135 922 43,968

Total assets less current BELERRDHAR

liabilities 225,275 246,884 24,659 49,409 250,366
Non-current liabilities FERBEE - - - - (79,686)
Net assets EEFE 225,275 246,884 24,659 49,409 170,680
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